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Philip Corbett listens to absolutely everything. As Head of Inspec-

tions for the bridge that is almost 2.9 kilometers in length, he coordinates inspections and maintenance work.

“Our work entails such things as checking the condition of the concrete or looking for signs of corrosion in

the steel,” he explains. The 30-year-old native of Britain and his team have to continuously monitor hundreds

and hundreds of different parameters, and no suspicious sound or oscillation escapes them. It was while at

work on the bridge that Philip Corbett noticed Chara, a young lady from Antirrio who also worked for the

bridge-operating company. They have since got married, proving that bridges do far more than just bring

towns closer together.

“We listen to the bridge – 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.” 
Philip Corbett, Head of Inspections and 
Maintenance Coordinator for the bridge  
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For that

is where Kakiana Kakou

would be working now

if everything had gone

according to plan. The

28-year-old originally

applied to the operating

company for a job as an

accountant, but there

were no positions avail-

able at the time, so they

offered her a job in the

tollbooth. She accepted,

and has absolutely no

regrets. One thing she

particularly enjoys about

her job is dealing with

all different kinds of 

people: “You also really

get a feeling for how

important this bridge is

to the region and to

Greece.”

“It’s far more interesting than 
sitting in an office!”

Kakiana Kakou, toll collector  



I. Consolidated Income Statement

in T€ Note FY 2007 FY 2006

Sales (1) 10,192,259 8,447,213

Increase/decrease in finished goods and work in process/
other own work capitalized (2) 213,919 11,644

10,406,178 8,458,857

Other operating income (3) 278,628 1,323,763 

Cost of materials (4) 6,881,087 5,739,038

Personnel expenses (5) 1,232,313 1,013,812

Amortization and depreciation (6) 225,112 201,074

Other operating expenses (7) 1,039,943 1,026,803

Income from shareholdings (8) 2,091 2,274

Income from associated companies (9) 9,519 87,667

Impairment losses on financial assets (10) 5,600 218

Finance income (11) 116,022 79,547

Finance expenses (11) 114,472 116,405

Result of ordinary activities 1,313,911 1,854,758

Income tax (12) 408,766 345,200

Consolidated net income for the financial year 905,145 1,509,558

Appropriation of profit in T€ Note FY 2007 FY 2006

Consolidated net income for the financial year 905,145 1,509,558

Profit carried forward from the previous year 126,500 64,500

Minority interests (13) 4,003 1,901

Dividend payments – 114,183 – 56,897

Appropriation to other retained earnings – 723,759 – 1,388,760

Unappropriated retained earnings 189,700 126,500

Undiluted earnings per share (in €) (14) 15.80 26.50

Diluted earnings per share  (in €) (14) 15.80 26.50
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II. Consolidated Balance Sheet

Assets in T€ Note 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Goodwill (15) 15,344 –

Other intangible assets (16) 119,537 18,803

134,881 18,803

Property, plant and equipment (17) 1,797,818 1,423,389

Investment property (18) 26,528 –

Financial assets (19) 108,790 61,904

Associated companies (20) 84,102 74,208

Deferred tax assets (21) 12,988 49,101

Other receivables and other assets (22) 2,856 3,348

2,167,963 1,630,753

Current assets

Inventories (23) 2,084,429 1,653,099

Trade receivables (24) 1,521,044 1,108,260

Other receivables and other assets (25) 359,356 176,277

Income tax assets (26) 114,192 23,950

Securities (27) 20,383 27,691

Cash and cash equivalents (27) 2,138,823 2,344,989

6,238,227 5,334,266

Non-current assets held for sale (28) – 12,559 

6,238,227 5,346,825 

8,406,190 6,977,578

Equity and liabilities in T€ Note 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Equity

Subscribed capital (29) 161,615 161,615

Capital reserve (30) 295,343 295,343

Retained earnings (31) 3,777,644 3,023,931

Unappropriated retained earnings (32) 189,700 126,500

4,424,302 3,607,389

Treasury shares –227,834 –160,354

4,196,468 3,447,035

Minority interests (33) 49,399 9,666

4,245,867 3,456,701

Non-current liabilities

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations (34) 1,791,745 1,714,837

Deferred tax liabilities (21) 94,027 43,870

Income tax liabilities (26) 214,236 170,758

Other provisions (35) 192,557 167,405

Financial liabilities (36) 87,437 89,649

2,380,002 2,186,519

Current liabilities

Other provisions (35) 325,597 237,737

Financial liabilities (37) 98,533 102,635

Trade payables (38) 760,666 602,007

Income tax liabilities (26) 19,705 49,150

Other liabilities (39) 575,820 342,829

1,780,321 1,334,358

8,406,190 6,977,578



III. Statement of Recognized Income and Expense

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Changes in the financial year recorded directly in equity

Changes in currency translation –9,934 3,580

Change in value reserve from hedging transactions

Changes in current value recorded directly in equity 6,879 7,862

Recognition of settled hedging transactions with effect on income –1,486 –6,376

Changes in value of financial assets in the “available-for-sale assets” category

Changes in current value recorded directly in equity 27,063 1,196

Recognition from the sale of securities with effect on income –1,139 –3,566

Actuarial gains and losses 39,374 –9,135

Deferred tax on current changes without effect on income –47,918 3,664

Other changes without effect on income 1,720 776

14,559 –1,999

Consolidated net income for the financial year 905,145 1,509,558

Total profit pursuant to IAS 1.97 in conjunction with IAS 19.93B 919,704 1,507,559

Total profit due to Salzgitter AG shareholders 914,411 1,505,665

Total profit due to minority interests 5,293 1,894

919,704 1,507,559
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(43) Cash Flow Statement

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Earnings before tax (EBT) 1,313,911 1,854,758

Depreciation, write-downs (+)/write-ups (–) on fixed assets 195,708 201,292

Income tax paid –412,455 –170,421

Other non-payment-related expenses (+)/income (–) 100,023 –56,497

Interest expenses 114,472 116,405

Increase (–)/decrease (+) from the disposal of fixed assets –2,751 –934,756

Increase (–)/decrease (+) in inventories –214,982 –222,782

Increase (–)/decrease (+) in trade receivables and other assets not 
attributable to investment or financing activities –79,654 –158,565

Use of provisions affecting payments, excluding income tax provisions –229,922 –205,824

Increase (+)/decrease (–) in trade payables and other liabilities 
not attributable to investment or financing activities –3,343 64,087

Cash flow from operating activities 781,007 487,697

Cash inflow from the disposal of fixed assets 14,413 23,902

Cash outflow for investments in intangible and tangible fixed assets –372,778 –230,778

Cash inflow (+)/outflow (–) for short-term loans against borrower’s note/bonds –25,000 50,000

Cash inflow from the disposal of financial assets 37,895 1,247,064

Cash outflow for investments in financial assets –399,671 –13,393

Cash flow from investment activities –745,141 1,076,795

Cash inflow (+)/outflow (–) as a result of selling and repurchasing treasury shares –85,705 –71

Cash outflow in payments to company owners –114,183 –56,897

Cash inflow (+)/outflow (–) as a result of the issuing of bonds, 
borrowings and other financial liabilities –7,541 –7,027

Interest paid –34,603 –40,405

Cash flow from financing activities –242,032 –104,400

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period 2,344,989 884,897

Payment-related changes in cash and cash equivalents –206,166 1,460,092

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 2,138,823 2,344,989



“Safety first,” says Nikolaos Andreopoulos, checking the karabiner
on his safety rope before he climbs over the bridge railings and abseils down 52 meters.
Andreopoulos is the foreman of the maintenance team, a job that demands skills more usual in
the Alps. Sometimes he abseils down from the bridge deck to check bridge sections, sometimes
he climbs up one of the 160-meter pylons. Don’t you ever feel dizzy up there? “No,” laughs
Andreopoulos, “it’s everyday routine for us.” It makes you ask yourself what it would take to
make Andreopoulos lose sleep ...

“Of course you need a head for heights.”

Nikolaos Andreopoulos, Foreman   
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V. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
of Salzgitter AG

Statement of Changes in Equity

in T€ Subscribed Capital Purchase/ Other retained Reserve from  
capital reserve repurchase of earnings currency

treasury shares translation

As per January 1, 2006 161,615 295,343 –160,283  1,819,755 –19,571  

Net income for the financial year – – – – – 

Dividend – – – – – 

Exercise of warrant-linked bonds – – – – – 

Disposal of treasury shares – – 63 – – 

Repurchase of treasury shares – – –134 – – 

Currency translation – – – – 3,580

Change in value pursuant to IAS 39 – – – – – 

Adjustment in line with actuarial 
assumptions regarding pension 
obligations, no effect on income – – – – – 

Group transfers to retained earnings – – – 1,388,760 – 

Deferred tax on changes without 
effect on income – – – – – 

Other – – – –4,051 – 

As per December 31, 2006 161,615 295,343 –160,354 3,204,464 –15,991

Goodwill resulting from IFRS3 and IAS 27 – – – 7,659 – 

Net income for the financial year – – – – – 

Dividends – – – – – 

Disposal of treasury shares – – 18,224 – – 

Repurchase of treasury shares – – –85,704 – – 

Currency translation – – – – –9,934

Change in value pursuant to IAS 39 – – – – – 

Adjustment in line with actuarial 
assumptions regarding pension 
obligations, no effect on income – – – – – 

Group transfers to retained earnings – – – 723,758 – 

Changes in the consolidated group – – – – – 

Deferred tax on changes without 
effect on income – – – – – 

Other – – – 7,737 – 

As per December 31, 2007 161,615 295,343 –227,834 3,943,618 –25,925
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Changes in the Changes in the Other changes Unappropriated Equity (excluding  Minority interests Equity
value of the reserve value of the reserve in equity with no retained earnings minority interests)

from hedging from available- effect on income
transactions for-sale assets

1,948 7,332 –168,243  64,500 2,002,396 9,232 2,011,628  

– – – 1,507,657 1,507,657 1,901 1,509,558 

– – – –56,897 –56,897  –1,211 –58,108  

– – – – – – –

– – – – 63 – 63 

– – – – – 134  – – 134  

– – – – 3,580 – 3,580 

1,486 –2,370 – – – 884  – – 884  

– – –9,135 – –9,135  – –9,135  

– – – –1,388,760 – – – 

– – 3,664 – 3,664 – 3,664 

– – 776 – –3,275  –256 –3,531  

3,434 4,962 –172,938 126,500 3,447,035 9,666 3,456,701 

– – – – 7,659 – 8,772  –1,113

– – – 901,141 901,141 4,003 905,144

– – – –114,183 –114,183 –2,339 –116,522

– – – 18,224 – 18,224

– – – – –85,704 – –85,704

– – – – –9,934 – –9,934

5,393 25,924 – – 31,317 – 31,317

– – 39,374 – 39,374 – 39,374

– – – –723,758 – – – 

– – – – – 47,274 47,274

– – –47,918 – –47,918 – –47,918

– – 1,720 – 9,457 –433 9,024

8,827 30,886 –179,762 189,700 4,196,468 49,399 4,245,867



in T€ Steel Trading

FY 2007 FY 2006 FY 2007 FY 2006

External sales 2,851,962 2,439,841 4,384,766 3,971,047

Sales to other segments 971,153 824,244 430,276 287,445

Sales in own segment – – 163,639 199,649

Sales to Group companies that cannot be allocated to an operating segment 144,261 85,506 42,526 55,352

Segment sales1) 3,967,376 3,349,591 5,021,207 4,513,493

Interest income (consolidated) 132 1,426 9,410 6,802

Interest income from other segments – – – –

Interest income in own segment – – 11,257 7,583

Interest income from Group companies that cannot be allocated 
to an operating segment 3,850 2,213 735 407

Segment interest income1) 3,982 3,639 21,402 14,792

Interest expenses (consolidated) 9,346 9,026 15,751 16,932

Interest expenses to other segments – – 121 –

Interest expenses in own segment – – 11,257 7,583

Interest expenses to Group companies that cannot be allocated 
to an operating segment 17,116 26,049 14,914 8,034

Segment interest expenses1) 26,462 35,075 42,043 32,549

Scheduled depreciation of tangible fixed assets and amortization 
of intangible assets (excluding impairment costs in accordance with IAS 36) 146,579 139,706 10,585 10,932

Unscheduled depreciation (impairment costs in accordance with IAS 36) 
of tangible fixed assets and amortization of intangible assets2) – 5,272 – –

Reversals of impairment losses of tangible fixed assets and intangible assets2) 28,681 – 12 –

Unscheduled write-downs (impairment costs in accordance with IAS 36) 
on financial assets2) – – – –

Result for the period in the segment 749,405 433,781 212,462 200,899

of which income from associated companies 3,741 966 – –

Expenses and income with no effect on earnings –5,025 58,738 30,134 24,646

Segmental operating assets 2,102,555 1,922,231 1,339,258 1,240,782

of which shares in associated companies 3,983 966 – –

Investments in tangible fixed assets and intangible assets3) 246,237 161,477 13,189 13,554

Segmental operating liabilities 1,498,683 1,392,405 1,143,701 1,146,888

(45) Segment Reporting
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Tubes Services Technology Total segments

FY 2007 FY 2006 FY 2007 FY 2006 FY 2007 FY 2006 FY 2007 FY 2006

1,815,334 1,509,561 503,961 425,368 512,610 – 10,068,633 8,345,817

624,056 549,585 661,140 592,916 18 – 2,686,643 2,254,190

163,726 135,207 19,066 15,509 53,349 – 399,780 350,365

568 479 4,608 9,556 – – 191,963 150,893

2,603,684 2,194,832 1,188,775 1,043,349 565,977 – 13,347,019 11,101,265

3,337 2,095 1,063 717 2,061 – 16,003 11,040

121 – – – – – 121 –

– – 114 108 3,205 – 14,576 7,691

1,908 976 12,955 10,179 – – 19,448 13,775

5,366 3,071 14,132 11,004 5,266 – 50,148 32,506

8,418 9,362 13,310 11,909 6,201 – 53,026 47,229

– – – – – – 121 –

– – 114 108 3,205 – 14,576 7,691

11,873 8,566 1,702 1,548 241 – 45,846 44,197

20,291 17,928 15,126 13,565 9,647 – 113,569 99,117

27,431 21,915 21,878 21,260 10,345 – 216,818 193,813

– – 3,619 – – – 3,619 5,272

5,937 – – – 374 – 35,004 –

– 18 – 200 – – – 218

302,466 262,876 40,389 15,435 4,037 – 1,308,759 912,991

5,778 86,701 – – – – 9,519 87,667

3,838 –21,887 18,782 33,232 –14,584 – 33,145 94,729

1,413,302 1,010,995 561,038 548,730 862,123 – 6,278,276 4,722,738

80,119 73,242 – – – – 84,102 74,208

70,784 36,223 37,999 24,642 15,058 – 383,267 235,896

1,038,552 806,504 474,594 497,424 851,108 – 5,006,638 3,843,221

1) The segmental
sales, interest in-
come and interest
expenses within
the Steel Division
contain no intra-
segmental vari-
ables. In the Tubes
Division, the intra-
segmental variables
within EP, Präzis-
rohr and the DMV
Group are not
included

2) The unscheduled
depreciation and
amortization and
the reversals of 
losses are reported
in full in the result
for the period

3) Increases in non-
current assets
(excluding finan-
cial instruments,
deferred tax assets,
payments after the
end of employ-
ment relationships,
rights from insu-
rance contracts),
IFRS 8.24b



Analysis of Fixed Assets 2007

in T€ Acquisition and production costs

Currency
translation Changes in

1/1/2007 differences cons. group Additions Disposals Transfers 31/12/2007

Intangible assets

Goodwill – – – 15,344 – – 15,344 

Concessions, industrial property rights
and similar rights and assets, including
licenses to such rights and assets 91,923 –126  99,475 12,594 1,225 836 203,477 

Payments made on account 495 – 109 1,631 2 –482  1,751 

92,418 –126 99,584 29,569 1,227 354 220,572

Property, plant and equipment

Land, similar rights and buildings,
including buildings on land
owned by others 1,009,926 – 2,148  106,125 11,547 10,168 1,607 1,116,889 

Plant equipment and machinery 4,043,237 – 3,935  64,270 138,249 81,819 32,191 4,192,193 

Other equipment, factory and
office equipment 239,091 – 389  20,492 27,870 12,884 1,661 275,841 

Payments made on account 
and equipment under construction 84,815 –50  13,125 192,911 97 – 37,283  253,421 

5,377,069 –6,522 204,012 370,577 104,968 –1,824  5,838,344

Investment property – –103 25,384 – 203 1,470 26,548

Financial assets

Shares in affiliated companies 45,076 – 19,593 2,012 7,973 – 58,708 

Shareholdings 24,932 – 360  2,701 6,315 6,336 – 27,252 

Loans to affiliated companies – – 1,493 – – – 1,493 

Non-current securities 16,292 – 76 30,300 392 – 46,276 

Other loans 1,643 –26  10,750 150 8,940 – 3,577 

87,943 –386  34,613 38,777 23,641 – 137,306

Associated companies

Shares in associated companies 74,208 – – 9,894 – – 84,102

5,631,638 –7,137 363,593 448,817 130,039 – 6,306,872
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1) The impairments
(unscheduled
amortization and
depreciation) con-
tained in this item
are summarized
under Note 6

Valuation allowances Book values

Amortiza-
tion and

Currency Reversal of depreciation
translation Changes in impairment in the finan-

1/1/2007 differences cons. group losses cial year1) Disposals Transfers 31/12/2007 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

– – – – – – – – 15,344 – 

73,615 –105  – – 13,295 1,114 – 85,691 117,786 18,308

– – – – – – – – 1,751 495

73,615 –105 – – 13,295 1,114 – 85,691 134,881 18,803

609,295 – 479  – 10 20,061 8,721 – 620,146 496,743 400,631

3,149,800 – 2,734  – 34,430 166,404 66,297 2,791 3,215,534 976,659 893,437 

187,819 – 192  – 187 25,299 11,871 – 200,868 74,973 51,272

6,766 – – – 3 – – 2,791  3,978 249,443 78,049 

3,953,680 –3,405 – 34,627 211,767 86,889 – 4,040,526 1,797,818 1,423,389

– – – – 50 30 – 20 26,528 –

19,649 – – 12 5,600 461 – 24,776 33,932 25,427 

6,325 – – 363 – 2,870 – 3,092 24,160 18,607 

– – – – – – – – 1,493 –

– – – – – – – – 46,276 16,292  

65 – 587 2 – 2 – 648 2,929 1,578 

26,039 – 587 377 5,600 3,333 – 28,516 108,790 61,904

– – – – – – – – 84,102 74,208

4,053,334 –3,510 587 35,004 230,712 91,366 – 4,154,753 2,152,119 1,578,304



Analysis of Fixed Assets 2006

in T€ Acquisition and production costs

Currency
translation Changes in

1/1/2006 differences cons. group Additions Disposals Transfers 31/12/2006

Intangible assets

Goodwill 1,224 – – – 1,224 – – 

Concessions, industrial property rights
and similar rights and assets, including
licenses to such rights and assets 94,524 –113  1,471 2,712 6,831 160 91,923 

Payments made on account 252 – – 277 – –34  495 

96,000 –113 1,471 2,989 8,055 126 92,418

Property, plant and equipment

Land, similar rights and buildings,
including buildings on land
owned by others 974,737 –1,022  10,186 27,613 4,129 2,541 1,009,926 

Plant equipment and machinery 4,021,732 –3,600  –7,074  119,564 115,375 27,990 4,043,237 

Other equipment, factory and
office equipment 235,970 –246  1,236 20,239 19,023 915 239,091 

Payments made on account 
and equipment under construction 51,024 –116  – 436  65,927 12 –31,572  84,815 

5,283,463 – 4,984 3,912 233,343 138,539 –126  5,377,069 

Financial assets

Shares in affiliated companies 45,368 – – 562 854 – 45,076 

Shareholdings 31,324 – –296  3,470 8,174 –1,392  24,932 

Non-current securities 27,888 – – 3,261 16,249 1,392 16,292 

Other loans 4,705 – –117  226 3,171 – 1,643 

109,285 – – 413 7,519 28,448 – 87,943 

Associated companies

Shares in associated companies 301,493 – – 89,883 317,168 – 74,208

5,790,241 –5,097 4,970 333,734 492,210 – 5,631,638
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1) The impairments
(unscheduled
amortization and
depreciation) con-
tained in this item
are summarized
under Note 6

Valuation allowances Book values

Amortiza-
tion and

Currency Reversal of depreciation
translation Changes in impairment in the finan-

1/1/2006 differences cons. group losses cial year1) Disposals Transfers 31/12/2006 31/12/2006 31/12/2005

– – – – – – – – – 1,224

72,592 –113  1,462 – 6,201 6,527 – 73,615 18,308 21,932 

– – – – – – – – 495 252 

72,592 –113 1,462 – 6,201 6,527 – 73,615 18,803 23,408

590,448 –479  2,981 – 17,675 1,330 – 609,295 400,631 384,289

3,098,451 –2,833  – 4,445  – 154,555 98,714 2,786 3,149,800 893,437 923,281 

184,870 –192  1,637 – 19,246 17,742 – 187,819 51,272 51,100 

6,160 – – – 3,397 5 –2,786  6,766 78,049 44,864

3,879,929 –3,504 173 – 194,873 117,791 – 3,953,680 1,423,389 1,403,534

20,452 – – – – 803 – 19,649 25,427 24,916 

8,085 – – – 200 1,960 – 6,325 18,607 23,239 

– – – – – – – – 16,292 27,888 

2,479 – – – 18 2,432 – 65 1,578 2,226

31,016 – – – 218 5,195 – 26,039 61,904 78,269

– – – – – – – – 74,208 301,493

3,983,537 –3,617 1,635 – 201,292 129,513 – 4,053,334 1,578,304 1,806,704



Status: 31/12/2007 Equity in € Share of capital 
or national currency direct indirect
(1,000 units) in % in %

Steel Division

Salzgitter Stahl GmbH, Salzgitter1) 240,024 100.00

Salzgitter Flachstahl GmbH, Salzgitter1) 176,636 5.05 94.95

Peiner Träger GmbH, Peine1) 50,195 5.18 94.82

Ilsenburger Grobblech GmbH, Ilsenburg1) 25,875 5.37 94.63

Salzgitter Bauelemente GmbH, Salzgitter1) 1,001 100.00

HSP Hoesch Spundwand und Profil GmbH, Dortmund1) 16,225 100.00

ThyssenKrupp GfT Bautechnik GmbH, Essen3) 1,400 30.00

Salzgitter Europlatinen GmbH, Salzgitter1) 4,875 100.00

Trading Division

Hövelmann & Lueg GmbH, Schwerte1) 2,942 5.10 94.90

Flachform Stahl GmbH, Schwerte1) 7,548 100.00

Salzgitter Mannesmann Handel GmbH, Düsseldorf1) 57,693 5.10 94.90

Salzgitter Mannesmann International GmbH, Düsseldorf1) 10,300 100.00

Salzgitter Mannesmann Stahlhandel GmbH, Düsseldorf1) 22,729 100.00

Deltastaal B.V., Oosterhout (Netherlands)1) 56,614 100.00

Friesland Staal B.V., Drachten (Netherlands)1) 12,529 100.00

Stahl-Center Baunatal GmbH, Baunatal1) 5,200 100.00

Salzgitter Handel B.V., Oosterhout (Netherlands)1) 73,335 100.00

Salzgitter Mannesmann International (Canada) Inc., 
Vancouver (Canada)1) CAD 19,700 100.00

Universal Eisen und Stahl GmbH, Neuss1) 14,975 5.10 94.90

Salzgitter Mannesmann International (USA) Inc., 
Houston/Texas (USA)1) USD 20,485 100.00

Tubes Division

Salzgitter Großrohre GmbH, Salzgitter1) 6,162 5.10 94.90

Mannesmannröhren-Werke GmbH, 
Mülheim an der Ruhr1) 1,000 100.00

Mannesmannröhren Mülheim GmbH, 
Mülheim an der Ruhr1) 10,226 100.00

Vallourec Précision Etirage S.A.S., Cheu – Saint Florentin 
(France)1) 66,304 100.00

Mannesmann Präzisrohr GmbH, Hamm1) 37,748 100.00

Mannesmann Robur B.V., Helmond (Netherlands)1) 9,826 100.00

Mannesmannrohr Sachsen GmbH, Zeithain1) 14,476 100.00

Mannesmannring Sachsen GmbH, Zeithain1) 50,234 100.00

EUROPIPE GmbH, Mülheim an der Ruhr2) 216,877 50.00

Europipe France S.A., Grande-Synthe (France)2) –442 100.00

Berg Steel Pipe Corporation, Panama City, Florida (USA)2) USD 96,731 100.00

eb Pipe Coating, Inc., Panama City, Florida (USA)2) USD 7,553 100.00

MÜLHEIM PIPECOATINGS GmbH, Mülheim an der Ruhr2) 49,996 100.00

Mannesmann Fuchs Rohr GmbH, Siegen-Kaan1) 19,339 100.00

Mannesmann DMV Stainless GmbH, Mülheim an der Ruhr1) 15,000 100.00

Material Participations of Salzgitter AG
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1) Fully consolidated
2)Proportionately 

consolidated
3) At equity

Hüttenwerke Krupp Mannesmann GmbH, Duisburg3) 122,744 30.00

Mannesmann DMV Stainless France S.A.S., Montbard 
(France)1) 31,429 100.00

Mannesmann DMV Stainless Italia S.r.l., 
Costa Volpino (Italy)1) 12,942 100.00

Mannesmann DMV Stainless Deutschland GmbH, 
Remscheid1) 14,060 100.00

Mannesmann DMV Stainless USA Inc., 
Houston/Texas (USA)1) USD 23,955 100.00

Services Division

DEUMU Deutsche Erz- und Metall-Union GmbH, Peine1) 10,674 5.10 94.90

Verkehrsbetriebe Peine-Salzgitter GmbH, Salzgitter1) 19,599 5.10 94.90

Hansaport Hafenbetriebsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg1) 5,113 51.00

Salzgitter Automotive Engineering Beteiligungs-
gesellschaft mbH, Osnabrück1) 12,980 100.00

SIT Salzgitter Information und Telekommunikation GmbH,
Salzgitter1) 26 100.00

Salzgitter Automotive Engineering GmbH & Co. KG, 
Osnabrück1) 7,233 100.00

Salzgitter Automotive Engineering Immobilien 
GmbH & Co. KG, Osnabrück1) 16 94.00

GESIS Gesellschaft für Informationssysteme mbH, 
Salzgitter1) 2,600 100.00

TELCAT KOMMUNIKATIONSTECHNIK GmbH, Salzgitter1) 492 100.00

“Glückauf“ Wohnungsgesellschaft mbH, Peine1) 26 5.19 94.81

SZST Salzgitter Service und Technik GmbH, Salzgitter1) 60 100.00

Salzgitter Mannesmann Forschung GmbH, Salzgitter1) 750 100.00

TELCAT MULTICOM GmbH, Salzgitter1) 2,968 100.00

Technology Division

Klöckner-Werke AG, Duisburg1) 228,334 86.08

KHS AG, Dortmund1) 207,116 100.00

KHS USA Inc., Waukesha (USA)1) USD 50,968 100.00

KHS Industria de Máquinas Ltda., São Paulo (Brazil)1) BRL 25,582 100.00

KHS Mexico S.A. de C.V., Zinacantepec (Mexico)1) MXN 99,785 100.00

KHS Machinery Pvt. Ltd., Ahmedabad (India)1) INR 311,093 89.00

KHS Pacific Pty. Ltd., Tullamarine (Australia)1) AUD 1,908 100.00

KHS Manufacturing (South Africa) (Pty.) Ltd., 
Kramerville (South Africa)1) ZAR 16,839 100.00

KHS RUS OOO, Moskau (Russia)1) RUB 56,384 99.00

IRKAS Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. Vermietung-KG, Munich1) 15,142 99.00

Klöckner Mercator Maschinenbau GmbH, Duisburg1) 102,320 100.00

Klöckner DESMA Elastomertechnik GmbH, Fridingen1) 3,835 85.00

Klöckner DESMA Schuhmaschinen GmbH, Achim1) 5,113 100.00

Klöckner Hänsel Processing GmbH, Hanover1) 3,941 100.00

RSE Grundbesitz und Beteiligungs-Aktiengesellschaft, 
Frankfurt1) 21,494 99.56

Other

Salzgitter Mannesmann GmbH, Salzgitter1) 2,564,174 100.00

Status: 31/12/2007 Equity in € Share of capital 
or national currency direct indirect
(1,000 units) in % in %

Tubes Division (continued)



The colossal pylons of
the bridge in whose shadow Antonis Stamatopoulos sells his
specialties reflect the huge change that has taken place in this
region thanks to the giant bridge. Stamatopoulos, too, has
noticed the change: in the past his customers were mainly
car and truck drivers waiting for the ferry, but things are very
different now. “We are focusing far more on quality, so we
are attracting a lot of local customers,” he says. One thing
hasn’t changed, however: “Mustard or ketchup?” he still
asks as he serves up the aromatic souvlaki skewers from
the window of his mobile snack bar.

“We get more local customers now.”

Antonis Stamatopoulos, snack bar owner
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Standard/Interpretation Mandatory Adoption Likely 
date by EU effects

commission1)

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 01/01/2007 yes Notes to the
financial

statements

IFRS 8 Operating Segments 01/01/20092) yes Segmental  
reporting

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – 01/01/2007 yes Notes to the
Capital Disclosures financial

statements

IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 01/03/2006 yes none
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2 01/05/2006 yes none

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives 01/06/2006 yes no material 
effects

IFRIC10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment 01/11/2006 yes none

IFRIC 11 Group and Treasury Share Transactions  01/02/2007 yes none
in Accordance with IFRS 2

1) As of December
31, 2007

2) Early application 
in 2007

Accounting Principles

The consolidated financial statements of Salzgitter AG (SZAG) were prepared in accordance with the

accounting principles of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that were rendered

mandatory on the reporting date by EU Directive no. 1606/2002 and are based on the principle of his-

torical acquisition cost. The requirements of the applied standards and interpretations (SIC/IFRIC)

were satisfied without exception and convey a true and fair picture of the Salzgitter Group’s net assets,

financial position and results of operations.

Impact of new or amended standards:
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1) As of December
31, 2007

Standard/Interpretation Mandatory Adoption by Likely
date the EU effects 

commission1)

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 01/01/2009 no Reclassifi-
cation of the 

financial state- 
ment parts

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 01/01/2009 no not 
foreseeable

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements 01/01/2008 no none

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 01/07/2008 no none

IFRIC 14 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum 01/01/2008 no not 
Funding Requirements and their Interaction foreseeable

Standards that were not applied prematurely:

As a listed holding of a group, Salzgitter AG is obliged in accordance with Section 315a, German Com-

mercial Code (HGB) to prepare consolidated financial statements in compliance with international

accounting standards and regulations. 

The consolidated financial statements are disclosed in the electronic German Federal Gazette (Bundes-

anzeiger). The Salzgitter AG company, entered in the Commercial Register at Braunschweig District

Court under HRB 9207, has its headquarters in Salzgitter. The address of the Executive Board of

Salzgitter AG is Eisenhüttenstraße 99, D-38239 Salzgitter.

The financial year of Salzgitter AG and its subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements

corresponds to the calendar year. Subsidiaries which have a different balance sheet date prepared

interim financial statements on the Group reporting date. The financial statements were prepared in

euros.

On December 13, 2007, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board issued the Declaration of

Compliance in accordance with Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and made it

permanently available to shareholders on the company’s website (www.salzgitter-ag.de). The Declaration

of Compliance is also printed in the “Corporate Governance Report” section in the annual report.



Consolidation Principles and Methods

The consolidated financial statements are based on the financial statements of Salzgitter AG and the

integrated subsidiaries prepared in accordance with the accounting and valuation methods applied in

a uniform manner throughout the Group and certified by independent auditors.

The consolidated financial statements include all of the companies whose financial and business policies

Salzgitter AG is capable of determining directly or indirectly in such a way that the companies in the

Salzgitter Group derive benefit from the activities of these companies. These companies are included

in the consolidated financial statements as of the time when the Salzgitter Group attains the possibility

of exercising control over them. If this possibility is no longer given, these companies are excluded

from the consolidated group. 

Capital consolidation is carried out by setting off the acquisition cost of the shareholding against the

proportionate amount of the equity revaluation at the time when the subsidiary was purchased. 

The result posted by a subsidiary that has been sold must be included in the consolidated financial

statements up until the time of the sale. This is the time when the control of the subsidiary by the 

parent company ends. The difference between the proceeds from the sale of the subsidiary and the

book values of the assets, less the debts at the time of the sale, is recognized in the consolidated

income statement. In the event that the subsidiaries being excluded from the consolidated group

were allocated goodwill that was acquired prior to October 1, 1995, any past offsetting against

retained earnings without effect on income is not reserved.

According to IAS 31, a joint venture exists if two or more partners are engaged in conducting a 

business activity under joint control. Joint control is defined as the contractually agreed sharing of con-

trol over a business activity. According to the benchmark method, joint ventures are included in the

consolidated financial statements pursuant to IAS 31 by means of proportionate consolidation. 

Shareholdings in companies where the Salzgitter Group is able to exercise a decisive influence over

financial and business policy decisions are valued in the consolidated financial statements using the

equity method. If the Group is unable to exercise a decisive influence, the shares in the companies are

included in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IAS 39. The dates of admission

into and departure from the group of companies valued using the equity method are determined by

applying the same principles that are used for subsidiaries. The associated companies are reported

using the revaluation method with their proportionate equity at the time of acquisition. In principle,

each equity valuation is based on the most recently audited set of annual financial statements.

Business combinations are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3.14 using the purchase method.

The acquirer in such cases is the entity which has gained control of the acquired company, with the

result that it can derive benefits from that company. The acquisition costs of the business combination

determined in accordance with IFRS 3.24 are spread over the acquired assets and assumed liabilities in

accordance with IFRS 3.36f.
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in T € FY 2007 FY 2006

Non-current assets 86,955 52,311

Current assets 214,882 128,352

Non-current liabilities 27,207 28,100

Current liabilities 70,458 70,705

Earnings 464,290 407,338

Expenses 409,059 431,095

Minority interests in the consolidated companies are reported separately within equity.

In the case of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency, the acquisition costs must in 

principle be reported at the exchange rate prevailing on the cut-off date when the acquisition was

realized. Exchange rates are hedged as a matter of principle.

Intragroup sales, expenses and earnings, as well as receivables and liabilities between the companies

included in the financial statements, are eliminated.

Interim profits deriving from intragroup deliveries and services are eliminated with effect on income,

taking deferred taxes into account. Intercompany deliveries and services are subject to customary 

market terms.

Details of the material direct and indirect subsidiaries and shareholdings of Salzgitter AG are listed in a

separate appendix to the Notes. The complete schedule of investment holdings is disclosed in the

electronic German Federal Gazette (“Elektronischer Bundesanzeiger”).

Consolidated Group

In addition to the annual financial statements of the holding company, the consolidated financial

statements include the annual financial statements of 45 (2006: 35) domestic and 17 (2006: 9) foreign

affiliated companies, all prepared as of the same reporting date. 

Two domestic (2006: two) and three foreign (2006: three) joint ventures are included on a propor-

tionate basis in the consolidated financial statements by means of proportionate consolidation. 

The following assets, liabilities, and expenses and earnings items (excluding income from sharehold-

ings, net interest income and tax) are attributable to the Group on the basis of its proportionate shares

in the respective joint ventures:



Status Additions Disposals Status 
31/12/2006 31/12/2007

Consolidated subsidiaries 44 18 – 62

of which domestic 35 10 – 45

of which foreign 9 8 – 17

Joint ventures 5 – – 5

of which domestic 2 – – 2

of which foreign 3 – – 3

Associated companies 2 – – 2

of which domestic 2 – – 2

of which foreign – – – –

As in 2006, two domestic shareholdings over which Salzgitter AG or another Group company exer-

cises a significant influence are included in the consolidated financial statements using the equity

method.

A total of 26 (2006: 17) domestic and 54 (2006: 27) foreign subsidiaries have not been consolidated

due to their minor overall significance for the Group’s net assets, financial position and results of oper-

ations.

The composition and development of the consolidated group (excluding Salzgitter AG) and the group

of companies valued using the equity method is as follows:

The additions of the fully consolidated companies relate to the Technology and Tubes Divisions. 

On March 8, 2007, Salzgitter AG concluded a contract on the sale of 77.9% of the shares in Klöckner-

Werke AG, Duisburg, with the insolvency administrator of WCM-Gruppe, Frankfurt am Main. A share-

holding of 70.7% in RSE Grundbesitz und Beteiligungs-AG (RSE), Frankfurt am Main, was simulta-

neously transferred as part of the package. 26.6% of RSE is held by Klöckner-Werke AG. Furthermore, 

it was announced on March 15, 2007, that the Salzgitter Group had acquired an additional 4.3% of

the Klöckner-Werke shares. After all the closing requirements had been fulfilled, 15 companies in all 

(8 domestic and 7 foreign) were included for the first time by way of full consolidation as of July 1,

2007. The companies in question mainly manufacture machinery in the filling and packaging technology

sector (KHS Group), and also operate in the fields injection molding, direct top-capping and machinery

for confectionery production. The first-time consolidation of these companies resulted in goodwill of 

€ 15.3 million. After control was achieved, a further 3.1% of the shares in Klöckner-Werke AG were

acquired. The difference between the purchase price and the equity acquired proportionately was

recorded under equity with no effect on income.

In the Tubes Division, 100% of Vallourec Précision Etirage S.A.S., Saint Florentin, France, and assets

and liabilities belonging to Rohrwerk Zeithain were acquired from Vallourec & Mannesmann Deutsch-

land GmbH, Düsseldorf. The company’s operations extend to the production of precision steel tubes.



B Consolidated Annual Financial Statements/Notes V. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of Salzgitter AG 222 223

C
o

n
so

lid
at

ed
 A

n
n

ua
l

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts

Foreign currency per €1 Exchange rate on Average 
reporting date exchange rate

31/12/2007 31/12/2006 FY 2007 FY 2006

Australian dollar 1.6757 1.6691 1.6348 1.6668

Brazilian real 2.6130 2.8152 2.6693 2.7336

Indian rupee 58.0818 58.2272 56.6080 56.7964

Canadian dollar 1.4449 1.5281 1.4678 1.4237

Mexican peso 16.0887 14.2604 14.9876 13.6845

Russian rouble 35.9860 34.6800 35.0183 34.1124

South African rand 10.0298 9.2124 9.6596 8.5223

US dollar 1.4721 1.3170 1.3705 1.2556

Rohrwerk Zeithain’s assets and debts were integrated into Mannesmannrohr Sachsen GmbH, Zeithain.

The first-time consolidation resulted in negative goodwill of € 8.1 million.

Currency Translation

In the individual annual financial statements of the Group companies, business transactions in foreign

currencies are valued at the exchange rate prevailing at the time when they were first recorded.

Exchange rate-induced losses incurred due to the valuation of receivables and/or liabilities up to the

reporting date are taken into consideration. Gains and losses resulting from changes in exchange rates

are reported through profit and loss.

The annual financial statements of the foreign subsidiaries are translated into euros in accordance with

the concept of functional currency. Since, from the point of view of Salzgitter AG, all of these companies

are generally independent in the execution of their business in financial, commercial and organiza-

tional terms, the respective functional currency corresponds to the currency of the country in which

these companies are incorporated. Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate prevailing

on the reporting date; the positions in the income statement, and thus the result for the year disclosed

in the income statement, are translated at the annual average exchange rate. The resulting differences

are reported without effect on income until such time as the subsidiary is sold.

A similar approach is employed when translating equity rollover for foreign companies that are

reported using the equity method. Differences from the previous year’s translation are offset against

retained earnings without effect on income. Goodwill is reported as an asset in the reporting currency.

Expenses and earnings are translated at annual average exchange rates, while changes in reserves are

translated at the rate prevailing on the reporting date.

The exchange rates that serve as the basis for currency translation have developed as follows:



Accounting and Valuation Principles

The annual financial statements of the subsidiaries included in the Salzgitter Group are prepared in

accordance with uniform accounting and valuation principles in compliance with IASB standards.

Assets are capitalized if the Salzgitter Group is entitled to all of the material opportunities and risks

associated with their respective use. In principle, assets are valued at amortized cost or production cost

or fair value.

Estimates and Assumptions

When the consolidated financial statements were drawn up, estimates and assumptions were made

that impacted the amounts and the reporting of the assets and liabilities, the revenues and expenses

and the contingent liabilities that are included in the balance sheet. The estimates and assumptions

essentially relate to the uniform groupwide determination of economic useful lives, the accounting

and valuation of provisions and the realizability of future tax benefits. The assumptions underlying the

respective estimates are explained in the individual items in the income statement and the balance

sheet. The actual values can deviate from the assumptions and estimates in individual cases. Devia-

tions of this kind are posted to income as of the time when better knowledge becomes available.

Goodwill/Negative Goodwill from Capital Consolidation

The capitalized goodwill for companies acquired before October 1, 1995, that results from the capital

consolidation continues to be offset against retained earnings. Goodwill acquired since October 1,

1995, is capitalized, reviewed annually for impairment and, if necessary, amortized.

Any negative goodwill arising will, in accordance with IFRS 3, be recognized immediately through

profit and loss after the net assets acquired have been revalued.

Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets acquired against payment are reported at acquisition cost and, if their useful

lives can be ascertained, amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of their likely economic use-

ful lives.

Other intangible assets are usually amortized over a period of five years. The assets identified within

the framework of purchase price allocations are subject to scheduled amortization using the straight-

line method over periods of between 15 and 19 years.

Intangible assets generated internally are capitalized if it is probable that their future economic benefit

for the Group is reliable and their acquisition and/or production costs can be assessed reliably. The

production costs of internally generated intangible assets are determined on the basis of directly

attributable costs that are necessary for the creation, production and development of the asset to

ensure that it is in good working condition for the purposes intended for it by the Group’s manage-

ment.
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Development costs are capitalized if a newly-developed product or procedure can be clearly defined,

is technically feasible and is intended for either the company’s own use or sale. Moreover, capitaliza-

tion presupposes that development costs will, with sufficient probability, be covered by future inflows

of cash and cash equivalents. The development process must be distinguished from a research phase.

Development is the application of the research result and takes place before the start of commercial

production or use. If the prerequisites for capitalization are not satisfied, the expenses are set off

through profit and loss in their year of origin.

The acquisition or production costs in question encompass all costs which are directly attributable 

to the development process, as well as the parts of the development-related overhead costs which are

also directly attributable. They are amortized from the start of production onwards on a straight-line

basis over the likely economic useful life of the developed asset models, which is generally five years.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are valued at acquisition or production cost less accumulated deprecia-

tion and impairment costs. Any investment grants received are shown as a reduction in the acquisition

and production costs. The residual book values and the economic useful lives are examined on every

reporting date and adjusted if necessary. If the book value of an asset exceeds its estimated recover-

able amount, this amount is written down. If the reasons for a write-down in previous years no longer

apply, appropriate reversals of write-downs are carried out.

The production costs of internally generated property, plant and equipment are determined on the

basis of directly attributable costs and estimated demolition and restoration costs. 

The costs incurred in the regular maintenance and repair of property, plant and equipment are recog-

nized as expenses. Renewal and maintenance expenses are capitalized as subsequent production costs

only if they result in a material extension of the useful life or a substantial improvement or an impor-

tant change in the use of the said property, plant and equipment.

Material components of property, plant and equipment that require replacement at regular intervals

are capitalized as autonomous assets and depreciated over the course of their economic useful lives.



Economic useful lives maximum

Buildings 50 years

Technical equipment and machinery

Locomotives, track systems 30 years

Blast furnaces, steelworks, continuous casting lines, crane systems 20 years

Surface coating plants, rolling mills, coking plants 15 years

Plant equipment, spare parts 10 years

Car pool 5 years

Factory and office equipment 5 years

The scheduled straight-line depreciation is essentially based on the following economic useful lives:

Leases

The Group operates as both a lessee and a lessor. When leased property, plant and equipment are

used, the prerequisites of finance leases in accordance with IAS 17 are fulfilled if all substantial risks and

rewards associated with ownership were transferred to the respective Group company. If a contract

consisting of several components applies, a lease arrangement is then assumed, in accordance with

IFRIC 4, if the fulfillment of the contract depends on the utilization of a particular asset and the con-

tract regulates the transfer of this utilization right. In these cases the respective property, plant and

equipment are capitalized at acquisition or production cost or at the lower net present value of the

minimum lease payments and are depreciated using the straight-line method over their economic use-

ful lives, or the shorter term of the lease agreement. Future lease payment obligations are discounted

as liabilities.

If assets are utilized in a finance lease arrangement, the net present value of the lease payments is

reported as a lease receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the net present value

of the receivable is recognized as unrealized financial income. Lease income is reported for the duration

of the lease arrangement using the annuity method, which results in a constant interest rate on the

lease receivable.

Lease arrangements in which a material part of the benefits and risks inherent in ownership of the

leased item remains with the lessor are classified as operating leases. The lease payments to be paid

under these lease arrangements are recognized in the income statement for the duration of the lease

arrangement using the straight-line method.
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Investment Property

Investment property encompasses property which is not used for production or administration pur-

poses. This is recognized at cost in accordance with IAS 40 (“cost model”). Depreciable investment

properties are depreciated over a period of up to 50 years using the straight-line method.

The properties are valued at cost, taking account of unscheduled depreciation. Transaction costs are

included in the first valuation. Fair value is estimated using acknowledged valuation methods or, if 

current market prices of comparable properties are available, derived from those prices. The substan-

tial part of the property portfolio is valued regularly by independent experts.

Financial Assets

a) Financial assets held for trading 

In the Salzgitter Group, only those financial assets which were classified from the outset as “held for

trading“ are measured at fair value through profit and loss. Derivatives are classified as held for trading

unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments or a financial guarantee contract. The

option of designating financial instruments as financial assets to be measured at fair value with effect

on income when they are first reported (fair value option) is not exercised in the Salzgitter Group.

b) Loans and receivables originated by the company

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are

not listed on an active market. They arise when the Group provides a debtor directly with money,

goods or services. Acquired receivables must also be classified under this heading. Loans and receiv-

ables are reported in the balance sheet under other receivables and other assets.

c) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments

and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and the ability to hold to

maturity. In the financial year 2007, no use was made of this category in the Salzgitter Group.

d) Derivatives with documented hedging arrangements

These financial instruments are not classifiable as “available-for-sale financial assets”, as derivatives

from this category are expressly excluded. They therefore systematically constitute an additional 

category.

e) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that cannot be attributed to any

other of the categories described above.



The financial instruments are attributed to the non-current assets if management does not intend to

sell them within 12 months of the reporting date. 

In principle, all purchases and sales of financial assets made on customary market terms are recognized

as of the settlement date in the Salzgitter Group, i.e. on the date on which the asset is delivered to or

by the Group. 

Financial assets are initially reported at their fair value; financial instruments that do not belong to the

“financial assets held for trading” category are initially reported at their fair value plus transaction

costs.

Financial instruments in the “available-for-sale financial assets”, “derivatives with documented hedging

arrangements” and “financial assets held for trading” categories are reported in the subsequent valuation

at fair value. The subsequent valuation of “loans and receivables originated by the company” and

“held-to-maturity investments” is carried out at amortized cost using the effective yield method. 

The fair values of listed shares are determined on the basis of their closing prices in electronic trading.

Immaterial non-listed shares are valued at their acquisition cost, as there is no price from an active

market and the fair value cannot be ascertained reliably.

Forward exchange contracts are valued using the Group’s own calculations. The outright rates applicable

for the reporting date were determined on the basis of the ECB’s reference rates for the respective 

currency pairings and the interest rate differences between the various terms of the forward exchange

contracts. Working on the assumption of standardized terms, the interest rate differences between 

the actual terms were determined by means of interpolation. Information on the standardized terms

was obtained from a standard market information system. The difference ascertained between the

contractually agreed foreign exchange amount at the forward exchange rate and the cut-off date

exchange rate is discounted as of the reporting date using the euro interest rate in accordance with

the remaining term to maturity.

The other derivatives are valued on the basis of calculations made by the issuing banks using recognized

methods (e.g. Black-Scholes, Heath-Jarrow-Morton).

Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial instruments in the 

“available-for-sale financial assets” category are posted to equity. If assets in this category are sold, 

the cumulative adjustments to fair value under equity are posted as gains or losses from financial assets

to the income statement.
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“Some people take the trip across the bridge just to go 

window shopping or have a coffee.”

Dimitris Stavropoulos, bus driver   Before the bridge was built, you thought hard

about whether your trip was really necessary. Then, if you wanted to go from

Antirrio to Rio and on to the nearest large town of Patras, taking the ferry was your

only option. “The whole journey took over two hours,” remembers bus driver

Dimitris Stavropoulos. “Now we can do it in half an hour.” The trip across the

bridge is part of daily life now, with commuters and tourists alike making use of

the enormous structure. Stavropoulos guesses he has made about 7,000 trips

across the bridge – it’s hard to conceive how long he would have needed to

make those trips by ferry.



The method used to report gains or losses from derivatives depends on whether the derivative was

designated as a hedging instrument and, if this was the case, on the item being hedged. The Group

designates derivatives either as hedging the fair value of an asset reported in the balance sheet or a 

liability (fair value hedge), as hedging cash flows from a transaction that is regarded as highly likely, or

as hedging the currency risk inherent in a firm obligation (both cash flow hedges).

Fair value hedge

Changes in the market values of derivatives that qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the

income statement together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or liabilities that

are attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the market value of derivatives that are designated for hedging

cash flows or the currency risk inherent in firm obligations and qualify as cash flow hedges is recog-

nized under equity. The ineffective portion of the changes in value, on the other hand, is recognized

directly in the income statement. Amounts recorded under equity are reposted to the income state-

ment in the period when the hedged item is recorded as earnings or expenses and in which the

hedged underlying transaction is posted to income. However, when a hedged future transaction

results in the recognition of a non-financial asset (e.g. inventories) or a liability, the gains or losses 

previously recorded under equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial valuation of

the acquisition cost of the asset or liability. When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a

hedge no longer meets the requirements of hedge accounting, the cumulative gain or loss remains in

equity and is not recognized in the income statement until the underlying transaction is ultimately 

recognized. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to take place, the cumulative gains or

losses that were recorded directly in equity must be transferred immediately to the income statement.

Movements in the reserve for cash flow hedges in equity are disclosed in the statement of changes in

equity and the schedule of recorded income and expenses.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative financial instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of

such derivatives are recorded immediately in the income statement.

For financial instruments that do not belong to the “financial assets held for trading” category, an exam-

ination is carried out as of each reporting date as to whether there are any objective indications of an

impairment of the financial asset or group of financial assets.

Impairments of financial instruments in the “loans and receivables originated by the company” and

“held-to-maturity investments” categories are posted to income; write-ups are also recorded with effect

on income.
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In the case of financial instruments that are classified as “available-for-sale financial assets”, a material or

permanent decrease in the fair value is posted to income as an impairment. Impairments of equity instru-

ments that have already been recorded in the income statement are reversed with no effect on income,

while impairments of debt instruments are reversed with effect on income.

Financial instruments are written off when the rights to payments from the investment have lapsed or

been transferred and the Group has essentially transferred all of the risks and opportunities associated

with their ownership. 

Inventories

Inventories are stated at acquisition or production cost or the lower net selling value. Inventories are

valued at average costs or individually attributed acquisition or production costs. The production costs

are determined on the basis of normal capacity utilization. Specifically, the production costs include

not only the directly attributable costs, but also the production-related material costs and production

overheads including production-related depreciation. Borrowing costs are not capitalized as part of

acquisition or production costs. Lower values as of the reporting date resulting from the decrease 

in net selling values are stated. If the net selling value of previously written-down inventories 

has increased, the resultant reversal of write-downs is recorded as a reduction in the cost of materials

or a change in inventories.

All discernible storage and inventory risks that impact the expected net selling value are taken into

account by applying properly calculated value adjustments.

Work in process and finished products, as well as raw materials internally generated, are valued at

Group production cost which, in addition to direct costs, includes the variable and fixed overhead

costs that are calculated systematically or attributed.

Rights to emit CO2 gases are reported in the balance sheet under inventories (consumables and sup-

plies). Initial ownership of emission rights that were acquired gratuitously are recorded at an acquisi-

tion cost of € 0. Emission rights acquired against payment are recorded at acquisition cost. Increases

in the value of the capitalized emission rights are realized only in the event of a sale. Impairments of

the capitalized emission rights are recorded when the market price of the emission rights has fallen

below the acquisition cost. 

Trade Receivables 

Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost

using the effective yield method, less impairments. An impairment of trade receivables is reported

when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due. The

amount of the impairment corresponds to the difference between the book value of the receivable

and the net present value of the estimated future cash flows from the receivable, discounted at the

effective interest rate. The impairment is disclosed in the income statement.



Customized Construction Contracts

According to IAS 11, the sales volume and results of every contract are determined using the percent-

age-of-completion method. The percentage of completion is calculated from the ratio of the contract

costs so far incurred to the estimated total costs as of the respective cut-off date. Contract costs which

are incurred immediately are recognized immediately through profit and loss. If the result of a con-

struction contract cannot be determined reliably, only revenues in the amount of the contract costs

incurred are recognized.

Payments received on account are deducted directly from the receivables from production contracts

reported under trade receivables. If the payments received on account for individual production 

contracts exceed the receivables from production contracts, the excess amount is reported under 

liabilities. If it seems likely that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenues, the anticipated

loss is recognized immediately as an expense and, if it exceeds the contract costs already incurred,

reported as a liability from contract production.

Non-current Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets (or groups of assets and liabilities) are classified as held for sale and are valued at

the carrying amount or lower fair value less costs to sell, if their carrying amount will essentially be

generated by a sale rather than through continued operational use.

Pension Provisions

The provisions for pension obligations are formed as a result of benefit plans for retirement and inval-

idity pensions and provisions for surviving dependents. These provisions are formed exclusively for

defined benefit plans under which the company guarantees that employees will receive a specific level

of benefits. The provisions for similar obligations take account of bridging payments in the event of

death. 

The pension obligations are valued on the basis of actuarial assumptions and calculations. The defined

benefit obligations are determined using the internationally accepted projected unit credit method.

The projected unit credit method takes into account not only pensions and acquired claims that are

known on the reporting date, but also the increases in salaries and pensions that may be expected 

in the future. The current service costs are shown as personnel expenses, the interest component of

allocations to provisions as net interest income. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recorded in full in the pension provisions.
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31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Actuarial rate 5.25% 4.50%

Trend in salaries 2.75% 1.75% or 2.75%

Trend in pensions 1.75% 1.25%

Staff turnover 1.00% 1.00%

The material actuarial premises applied at the Salzgitter Group are as follows:

The Heubeck actuarial tables (Richttafeln) 2005 G were used to value the expected mortality of the

beneficiaries. As in the previous year, the actuarial tables devised by Prof. Heubeck (RT 2005 G) were

adjusted to the beneficiaries listed at the Essener Verband (Essen-based association) because they are

not suitable for valuing the provisions with regard to the life expectancy of this group of persons. 

Income Taxes

In accordance with IAS 12, deferred tax is calculated using the accounting-oriented liability method.

Under this method, reductions in the tax burden and charges that are likely to arise in future are

reported for temporary differences between the book values shown in the consolidated financial state-

ments and the values attributed to assets and liabilities for tax purposes.

As of December 31, 2007, the deferred taxes of domestic corporations were valued using an overall

tax rate of 30.2%. This tax rate consists of the trade tax rate of 14.4% which applies as from 2008 and

the 15.8% corporation tax rate (including solidarity surcharge).

The German companies are subject to an average trade income tax rate of some 17% of trade earn-

ings in the financial year 2007, which is deductible when corporate income tax is being determined.

The corporate income tax rate amounts to a uniform 25%, plus a solidarity surcharge of 5.5% on 

corporate income tax. 

The calculation of foreign income tax is based on the laws and regulations applicable in the individual

countries.

The anticipated tax savings resulting from the utilization of loss carryforwards whose realization is

expected in the future are capitalized. When capitalized assets are valued for future reductions in the

tax burden, consideration is given to the probability of the expected tax benefit being realized. 

Assets deriving from future reductions in the tax burden include deferred tax assets arising from 

temporary differences between the book values stated in the consolidated balance sheet and values

attributed for tax purposes, as well as tax savings resulting from loss carryforwards whose realization is

anticipated at a future date.



Deferred tax claims in a particular area of fiscal jurisdiction are offset against deferred tax liabilities in

the same area if the company is entitled to offset actual tax liabilities against tax claims and the tax is

levied by the same tax authority; the offsetting is carried out insofar as there is matching maturity.

Income tax liabilities are set off against corresponding tax refund claims if they relate to the same area

of fiscal jurisdiction and their types and maturities match. The change in deferred tax liabilities is

explained under Note 21.

Other Provisions

Provisions are recognized for current obligations to third parties whose occurrence would be likely to

burden Group assets. They are recognized at their likely settlement amount, taking account of all the 

discernible risks involved, and are not offset against recourse claims. Provisions are formed only if they

are based on a legal or de facto obligation to third parties.

Financial Liabilities

There are two valuation categories for financial liabilities.

a) Financial liabilities held for trading 

As the Salzgitter Group does not designate financial instruments for valuation at fair value through

profit and loss when first recognized (non-application of the fair value option), this category contains

only those derivatives which are not shown in the hedge accounting.

b) Liabilities valued at amortized cost

When they are recorded for the first time, financial liabilities are stated at fair value less transaction

costs. In the subsequent periods, they are basically valued at amortized cost; all differences between

the amount paid out and the amount repaid are then spread over the term of the loan using the 

effective yield method.

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if the liability is going to be settled within 12 months

of the reporting date.

Income and Expense Recognition

Sales and other operating revenues are recognized when performance has been rendered or assets

have been furnished, and thus when the risk has already passed. In the case of construction contracts,

revenues are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method.

Dividend is collected when the claim has been legally accrued; interest paid and interest income are

reported pro rata temporis. When there are changes in the consolidated group, acquired dividend

claims are recorded without effect on income as part of the capital consolidation.
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IAS 20 stipulates that grants may not be reported in the balance sheet until the necessary claim 

prerequisites have been fulfilled and it can be anticipated that the grants will actually be paid out. In

principle, grants related to assets are reported as deductions from acquisition or production costs.

Insofar as a grant related to income refers to future financial years, it is reported using the accrual

method, and the component for future periods is transferred to an accrued item.

Impairment of Assets (Impairment Test)

On each balance sheet date, the Group examines the book values of its intangible assets and property,

plant and equipment to establish whether there is an event which could trigger impairment. If such

signs are discernible, the recoverable amount is estimated in order to determine the scope of the

impairment. If the recoverable amount for the individual asset cannot be estimated, the estimate is

made at the level of the cash generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs. Impairments are 

carried out if the benefit deriving from the asset is lower than its book value. The benefit deriving from

an asset corresponds to the net selling price or the value in use, whichever is higher. The value in use 

is determined by the net present value of future cash flows attributable to the asset. If the reason for 

a previous special depreciation no longer applies, a write-up is carried out.

Non-current assets that are classified as held for sale are reported at the carrying amount or the

lower fair valueless costs to sell.

Financial Risk Management

The Group’s business activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: the market risk (includes the 

currency risk, the interest rate risk and the market price risk), the credit risk and the liquidity risk. The

Group’s overall risk management program is focused on the unpredictability of developments in the

financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial position.

Risk management is carried out independently by the subsidiaries and associated companies of 

Salzgitter AG in accordance with policies approved by the Executive Board. The Executive Board issues

written principles for overall risk management as well as guidelines for specific areas, such as the 

currency risk, the interest rate and credit risk, the use of derivative and non-derivative financial instru-

ments and the investment of excess liquidity.

Currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is therefore exposed to a currency risk based on fluctuations 

in the exchange rates between various foreign currencies. Currency risks arise from expected future

transactions and assets and liabilities reported in the balance sheet. The risk arises when transactions

are denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the company. The Group com-

panies use forward exchange contracts to hedge against such risks. 



In the Group, the hedging relationship between the hedging instrument and the underlying trans-

action, the objective of the Group’s risk management and the strategy underlying the hedging trans-

actions are documented when hedging transactions are concluded. In addition, the estimation as to

whether the derivatives used in the hedging relationship are highly effective in compensating for the

changes in the current value or the underlying transaction’s cash flows is then documented in the

Group at the start of the hedging relationship and continuously thereafter. 

Credit risk

The Group has no significant potential credit risk clusters. It has trading rules and regulations and an

efficient receivables management program which ensure that products are sold only to customers

with an appropriate payment history. Contracts involving derivative financial instruments and financial

transactions are restricted to financial institutions with prime creditworthiness. The Group’s business

policy is to limit the amount of credit exposure to the individual financial institution. 

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity management includes the maintenance of sufficient reserves of cash and marketable

securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and

the existence of unused credit facilities.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing liabilities. Liabilities with variable interest

rates expose the Group to a cash flow interest rate risk which influences interest expenses and interest

income. Fixed-interest liabilities give rise to a fair value interest rate risk, although this has an impact

on the balance sheet only if the financial instruments are reported at current value.

Further information about Salzgitter AG’s risk management is provided in the Risk Report.

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital with the objective of maximizing the earnings from its shareholdings

by optimizing the relationship between equity and debt. This also serves the objective of reducing the

costs of capital procurement. In the process, it is ensured that all of the Group companies can operate

under the principle of going concern principle.

In order to maintain or optimize the capital structure, the Group is obliged to adjust the amount of the

dividend payments, make repayments of capital to the shareholders, issue new shares or dispose of

assets for purposes of debt reduction.

The Group’s capital structure consists of debt, including leverage, cash and cash equivalents (liquid

funds, loans against promissory notes/bonds and securities) and the equity and minority interests due

to SZAG’s equity providers. 

Further information is contained in the Group Management Report in Section A.II.8. “Net Assets”.
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The 36-year-old civil engineer is a member
of the maintenance team and knows all about the specific strains that the bridge is exposed
to. But Stathopoulos also knows how well equipped the huge structure is to deal with them:
huge pylons and a steel bridge deck with shock absorbers enabling it to move to and fro by
up to two meters help to cope with any type of impact and make the bridge extremely
robust. It can withstand wind speeds of 250 km/h, earthquakes measuring 7 on the Richter
scale, or a collision with an oil tanker, for example.

“The bridge is complete, but the project is never over.”

Aris Stathopoulos, Structural Maintenance Manager   



in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Changes in the inventory of finished goods 
and work in process 207,173 7,646

Other own work capitalized 6,746 3,998

213,919 11,644

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Breakdown according to product categories

Flat rolled products 4,184,559 3,825,144

Sections 1,444,258 1,049,496

Pipes 2,699,361 2,400,804

Other 1,864,081 1,171,769

10,192,259 8,447,213

Breakdown according to regions

Domestic 4,902,587 3,983,919

Other EU 2,203,121 1,929,467

Other Europe 581,973 228,529

America 938,447 977,270

Other 1,566,131 1,328,028

10,192,259 8,447,213

Notes to the Income Statement

(1) Sales

The breakdown of sales includes an additional presentation by product category which does not 

correspond to segment reporting.

Sales include revenues from contract production recognized in accordance with the percentage-of-

completion method amounting to € 351.5 million.

(2) Increase or Decrease in Finished Goods and Work in Progress and Other Own Work Capitalized

In comparison with the previous year, finished goods and work in process increased significantly. This

increase is attributable to a rise in both volumes and assortment. In the Steel Division, roughed slabs

were deliberately stockpiled at the end of the financial year in order to bridge over a planned blast 

furnace relining in the financial year 2008. In the Tubes Division, raw material price hikes led to an

increase in work in process. 
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in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Reversal of provisions and allowances 74,230 71,099

Income from the valuation of financial derivatives 
and foreign currency positions 45,210 25,733

Reversals of impairment losses in fixed assets 35,004 181

Income from the disposal of fixed assets 30,758 1,134,510

Income from changes in exchange rates 14,491 15,495

Ancillary operating income 11,362 11,972

Income from negative goodwill arising from 
capital consolidation 8,090 111

Income from write-downs of receivables 5,539 13,498

Insurance compensation 5,158 10,195

Rental, lease and licensing income 4,944 3,915

Subsidies 2,395 2,478

Charged-on costs 2,278 3,397

Refunds from previous years 2,243 403

Other income 36,926 30,776

Other operating income 278,628 1,323,763

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Cost of raw materials, consumables, supplies 
and purchased goods 6,421,479 5,388,653

Cost of purchased services 459,608 350,385

Cost of materials 6,881,087 5,739,038

(3) Other Operating Income 

The decrease in other operating income can be attributed almost entirely to the lower income from

the sale of fixed assets. In the previous year, the shareholding in Vallourec S.A., Boulogne-Billancourt,

had been sold. 

Reversals of write-downs in accordance with IAS 36.109 et seq were carried out by one company in

the Steel Division and another in the Tubes Division. 

Other operating income includes income unrelated to the accounting period totaling € 108.0 million

(2006: € 78.0 million) that consisted mainly of reversal of impairments, the disposal of assets, the 

liquidation of provisions for non-recurring obligations, the collection of written-off receivables, insur-

ance compensation payments and reimbursements of costs for previous years. 

(4) Cost of Materials

The cost of raw materials, consumables and supplies relates primarily to expenses for materials used,

consumables and supplies, spare parts, energy supply and plant equipment.



in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Wages and salaries 1,001,970 822,161

Social security, pension and other benefits 230,343 191,651

of which pension commitments [106,398] [92,359]

Personnel expenses 1,232,313 1,013,812

Average number of employees (excl. employees FY 2007 FY 2006
in age-related part-time employment)

Wage labor 12,647 11,195

Salaried employees 7,425 5,754

Group core workforce 20,072 16,949

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Intangible assets 326 1

Land, similar rights and buildings, including buildings 
on land owned by others – –

Plant and machinery 2,128 1,855

Other equipment, factory and office equipment/
equipment under construction 1,165 3,416

Write-downs 3,619 5,272

The cost of purchased services refers essentially to sales-related contract processing and inter-company

transport costs.

The increase can be attributed above all to the increase in sales, the increase in the cost of raw materials

and energy and the additions to the consolidated group.

(5) Personnel Expenses

In the financial year 2007, the defined contribution plan payments in the Salzgitter Group totaled 

€ 94.9 million (2006: € 72.2 million). Allocations (after being set off against reversals) to the pension

provisions are reported as costs for defined benefit plans. The allocations to provisions consist almost

entirely of ongoing pension costs for employees’ earned pension expectancies in the reporting year.

The costs for retirement pensions do not include the compounding of the pension provisions that are

shown in the financial result. 

(6) Amortization and Depreciation

The amortization of intangible assets and the depreciation of property, plant and equipment were 

carried out according to schedule in the reporting year and are shown in the analysis of fixed assets.

The following expenses resulting from impairment were also taken into account:
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in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Selling expenses 337,435 290,723

External services including provisioning 331,423 286,938

Administrative expenses including insurance costs,  
fees, charges 94,771 78,774

Advertising/information and travel expenses 45,252 23,616

Expenses from the valuation of financial derivatives  
and foreign currency positions 36,965 32,081

Exchange losses 29,439 11,136

Rents and leases 28,034 20,190

Allowances for doubtful accounts 21,342 16,129

Welfare-related personnel and non-personnel expenses 17,627 13,650

EDP costs 15,953 16,192

Financial/monetary transfer expenses 13,029 15,951

Other taxes 10,994 6,975

Loss on the disposal of fixed assets 8,276 8,229

Loss on the disposal of current assets 1,301 6,935

Expenses arising from optional structures – 174,869

Other expenses 48,102 24,415

Other operating expenses 1,039,943 1,026,803

The impairment costs are calculated in accordance with the provisions of IAS 36. Amortization and

depreciation was carried out on the basis of value in use or the higher net selling price.

An impairment test is carried out at least once a year for goodwill and intangible assets with indetermi-

nate useful lives. In the case of other intangible assets with limited useful lives, however, such a test is

carried out only on specific grounds. In the Salzgitter Group, the value of goodwill and intangible

assets with indeterminate useful lives is basically determined by their value in use.

The calculation of the useful life, also for property, plant and equipment, is based on the current plans

prepared by the management for the three following years. The premises of the plans are adjusted to

take account of the current state of knowledge. The value in use was calculated using the discounted

cash flow method based on an interest rate of 12.5% p.a. This led to impairment costs of € 3.6 mil-

lion (2006: € 5.3 million) at a CGU in the Services Division due to insufficient earnings contributions.

(7) Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses include expenses unrelated to the accounting period totaling € 67.8 million

(2006: € 41.2 million) connected with, among other things, waste disposal obligations.



in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Earnings from profit transfer agreements 505 921

of which affiliated companies [435] [921]

Earnings from shareholdings 2,993 1,610

of which affiliated companies [246] [–]

Expenses from the assumption of losses 1,407 257

of which affiliated companies [1,407] [43]

Income from shareholdings 2,091 2,274

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Income from associated companies 9,519 87,667

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Impairment losses on financial assets 5,600 218

(8) Income from Shareholdings

(9) Income from Associated Companies

The income from associated companies derives from Hüttenwerke Krupp Mannesmann GmbH, Duis-

burg, and ThyssenKrupp GfT Bautechnik GmbH, Essen. The decrease compared with the previous year

can be attributed to the disposal of the shareholding in Vallourec S.A., Boulogne-Billancourt, in August

2006. Income from associated companies in the financial year 2006 still included this company’s 

proportional semi-annual result.

(10) Impairment Losses on Financial Assets

The impairment losses on financial assets in the financial year under review result entirely from the fair

value of shares in an affiliated company. The calculation of the useful life is based on the current plans

prepared by management for the three following years. The premises of the plans are adjusted to take

account of the current state of knowledge. The value in use was calculated using the discounted cash

flow method based on an interest rate of 13.9% p.a.
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in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Income tax

current tax expenses/tax income  (+/–) 415,042 301,008

deferred tax expenses/tax income  (+/–) –6,276 44,192

408,766 345,200

of which unrelated to the reporting period [–2,231] [–4,285]

Total 408,766 345,200

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Interest and similar expenses 114,472 116,405

of which affiliated companies [1,774] [750]

Finance expenses 114,472 116,405

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Income from loans from financial assets 431 150

Other interest earned and similar income 115,591 79,397

of which affiliated companies [1,260] [1,022]

Finance income 116,022 79,547

(11) Finance Income/Finance Expenses

The increase in interest income corresponds to the sharp increase in average cash and cash equivalents

compared with the previous year.

The interest component included as part of the allocations to pension provisions is reported at € 77.7

million (2006: € 70.6 million) under interest paid.

(12) Income Tax

Income tax amounting to € 408.8 million affects earnings before tax. The income tax unrelated to the

accounting period mainly relates to deferred tax income of € 8.1 million and current tax expenses of

€ 5.9 million due to subsequent payments resulting from investigations by the tax authorities.

The increase in current income tax from € 301.0 million to € 415.0 million results mainly from the

decrease in tax-free income and the lower offsetting of tax loss carryforwards. Domestic income tax

accounted for € 377.6 million of this sum. The lower domestic tax rate as from 2008 resulted in

deferred tax income of € 39.3 million, which led to a year-on-year increase in deferred tax income to

€ 6.3 million. 

Future dividend payments do not affect income tax. Claims totaling € 1.5 million are reported for cor-

porate income tax reduction credits due to German companies. Deferred taxes of € 37.8 million

(2006: € 85.7 million) have been recognized for business transactions which have directly affected

equity. € 10.7 million of this sum is accounted for by the reduction of the income tax rate that will be

valid in Germany as from 2008. 



in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 

Intangible assets 3,020 25,689 7,208 234

Property, plant and equipment 3,223 167,671 5,426 174,644

Financial investments 3,473 2,220 3,843 1,408

Current assets 26,404 127,272 23,327 104,454

Pension provisions 100,975 1,071 150,678 526

Other provisions 33,827 9,164 59,298 18,367

Special account including reserves – 6,754 – 9,423

Liabilities 35,287 482 20,596 248

Other items 18,317 4,854 1,048 66

Total 224,526 345,177 271,424 309,370

in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Corporate income tax 25,746 42,323

Trade tax 13,866 854

Capitalized tax savings 39,612 43,177

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Capitalized tax savings, January 1 43,177 75,482

Changes to the consolidated group 26,162 –1,125

Capitalization of tax savings from losses carried 
forward 31,182 35,260

Valuation allowances from losses carried forward –19,049 –663

Use of losses carried forward –41,860 –65,777

Capitalized tax savings, December 31 39,612 43,177

The following deferred tax assets/liabilities reported in the balance sheet are recognized in respect of

the differences between reported book values and attributed tax valuations:

Summary of the tax benefits from losses carried forward:

Development of the capitalized tax saving from losses carried forward that may be realized in the

future:

As a result of the “minimum taxation” that was introduced in Germany in 2004, the tax loss carry-

forwards are offset in full against ongoing tax up to the amount of € 1.0 million but only up to 60%

thereafter.
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in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Consolidated net income for the year 
before income tax 1,313,911 1,854,759

Expected income tax expenses (tax rate 39.0 %) 512,425 723,356

Tax share for:

differences between tax rates –7,292 – 4,393

effect of changes in statutory tax rates –39,280 –

tax credits –13,319 –

tax-free income –9,923 – 466,684

non-deductible tax expenses and other 
permanent differences 13,587 135,897

temporary differences excluding deferred taxes –5,590 2,552

effects of temporary differences and losses

adjustments in value of capitalized benefits 1,112 663

utilization of benefits not previously capitalized –16,911 –35,013

tax expenses and income unrelated to 
the reporting period –2,231 – 4,285

other deviations –23,812 –6,893

Actual income tax expenses 408,766 345,200

Thanks to the utilization of tax loss carryforwards that had previously not been taken into considera-

tion, current tax expenses were reduced by € 7.2 million in Germany and by € 1.8 million abroad. 

For a number of domestic companies, no deferred taxes were capitalized for trade tax loss carry-

forwards amounting to € 1,516.6 million and corporate income tax loss carryforwards amounting to 

€ 1,695.0 million, as the possibility of their use can be regarded as unlikely from a current standpoint.

Likewise, no deferred tax assets were formed for foreign loss carryforwards amounting to € 29.8 mil-

lion which are not intrinsically valuable and can be carried forward for an unlimited period.

Transition from anticipated to actual income tax expenses:

Actual income tax expenses of € 408.8 million diverge by € 103.6 million from the anticipated

income tax expenses of € 512.4 million. This results primarily from reductions in tax rates in Germany,

tax credits and the ulilization of loss carryforwards that were previously not capitalized.



in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Profit share of minority shareholders 4,003 1,901

Shares Treasury Shares in 
issued shares circulation

Beginning of financial year 63,218,400 6,321,277 56,897,123

Acquisition of treasury shares – 710,722 –

Release of treasury shares – 710,176 –

End of financial year 63,218,400 6,321,823 56,896,577

Weighted number of shares 63,218,400 6,197,628 57,020,772

Earnings per share FY 2007 FY 2006

Consolidated net income for the year in T € 905,145 1,509,558

Minority interests in T € 4,003 1,901

Amount due to Salzgitter AG shareholders in T € 901,142 1,507,657

Earnings per share in € 15.80 26.50

(13) Minority Interests

The minority interests in the net income for the year are accounted for by the following companies:

■ Hansaport Hafenbetriebsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg,

■ Salzgitter Automotive Engineering Immobilien GmbH & Co. KG, Osnabrück,

■ Klöckner-Werke AG, Duisburg (including subsidiaries).

(14) Earnings per Share

The undiluted earnings per share are determined in accordance with IAS 33 as the ratio between the

Group net income for the financial year to which the shareholders of Salzgitter AG are entitled and the

weighted average number of no par bearer shares in circulation during the financial year. Earnings per

share amount to € 15.80 under IAS 33.

The earnings per share would be diluted if the average number of shares were increased by adding the

issue of potential shares from option and conversion rights. There were no such rights as of the report-

ing date, however. For that reason, the diluted earnings per share also amount to € 15.80. 
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Notes to the Balance Sheet

Non-current Assets

(15) Goodwill

All of the goodwill relates to the shares in Klöckner-Werke AG, Duisburg, and its participations, which

were newly acquired in 2007. The goodwill was assigned to the KHS Group. No need for impairment

was ascertained in the reporting year.

(16) Other Intangible Assets

The development of the individual items under other intangible assets is shown in the analysis of fixed

assets.

The acquisition of Klöckner-Werke AG and its participations led to the first-time capitalization of devel-

opment costs totaling € 11.6 million in the reporting year. Total expenditure on research and develop-

ment in the reporting period amounted to € 68.8 million (2006: € 67.0 million), including € 9.4 mil-

lion (2006: € 8.7 million) for external parties. 

There are no material restraints on the right of ownership or disposal.

As part of the purchase price allocation for Klöckner-Werke AG, brand names, customer relationships

and technologies were identified as intangible assets and recognized in the balance sheet at € 66.9

million on the date of their first-time consolidation. This resulted in a net book value of € 65.7 million

as of the reporting date.



in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Land and buildings 496,743 400,631

Plant equipment and machinery 976,659 893,437

Other equipment, factory and office equipment 74,973 51,272

Equipment under construction/payments 
made on account 249,443 78,049

Property, plant and equipment 1,797,818 1,423,389

in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Buildings 5,400 2,640

Plant equipment and machinery 31,595 30,636

Other equipment, factory and office equipment 1,046 1,731

Assets capitalized as finance leases 38,041 35,007

(17) Property, Plant and Equipment

The development of the individual items under property, plant and equipment is shown in the analysis

of fixed assets.

Breakdown of property, plant and equipment at their book values: 

The book values of the assets capitalized as finance leases in accordance with IAS 17 are shown in the

following table:

The amount of the reported impairment charges is shown under Note 6.

Restrictions on the right of ownership or disposal amounted to € 34.8 million (2006: € 38.2 million).

(18) Investment Property

Due to the acquisition of Klöckner-Werke AG and RSE AG and their subsidiaries, investment property

amounting to € 26.5 million was reported for the first time in the reporting year. 

The properties in question are developed and undeveloped properties which are not held for produc-

tion or administration purposes. Their fair values as of the reporting date correspond to those reported

in the balance sheet, as these were ascertained as part of the purchase price allocation.
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in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Klöckner-Werke AG 22,981 –

RSE Grundbesitz und Beteiligungs-AG 1,241 –

Klöckner Mercator Maschinenbau GmbH 1,200 –

KHS USA Inc. 1,106 –

Investment property 26,528 –

in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Shares in affiliated companies 33,932 25,427

Shareholdings 24,160 18,607

Non-current securities 46,276 16,292

Other loans 4,422 1,578

Financial assets 108,790 61,904

The properties consist of the following:

Rental income amounted to € 0.2 million in the reporting year. Direct operating expenses for the

investment property were basically incurred for properties that generated rental earnings in the

reporting year. These totaled € 0.1 million. 

As of the reporting date there are no material obligations to carry out repairs, maintenance, improve-

ments etc.

(19) Financial Assets

The development of the individual items in financial assets is shown in the analysis of fixed assets.

Breakdown of financial assets: 

The increase in shareholdings in affiliated companies and participations results essentially from the

addition of Klöckner-Werke AG, which was consolidated for the first time in the reporting year, and its

partly non-consolidated affiliated companies and participations.

The increase in securities relates primarily to the shares in an Indian manufacturing company in the

tubes industry; these shares were valued at their market value.

The other loans are accounted for by one loan to a non-consolidated company and interest-bearing

housing loans to employees.



in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Opening inventory, January 1 74,208 301,493

Result of current financial year 9,519 87,667

Disposals – –317,168

Currency translation differences – 10,426

Other changes in equity 375 –8,210

Book value, December 31 84,102 74,208

2007 in T€ Assets Debt Earnings Profit Proportion 
(%)

Hüttenwerke Krupp Mannesmann GmbH,
Duisburg 878,895 611,831 2,217,845 19,258 30.00

2006 in T€ Assets Debt Earnings Profit Proportion 
(%)

Hüttenwerke Krupp Mannesmann GmbH,
Duisburg 842,806 598,664 1,962,067 45,669 30.00

in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Deferred tax assets 12,988 49,101

Realization after more than 12 months 19 43,263

Realization within 12 months 12,969 5,838

Deferred tax liabilities 94,027 43,870

Realization after more than 12 months 23,576 2,467

Realization within 12 months 70,451 41,403

Balance of deferred tax assets  
and deferred tax liabilities –81,039 5,231

(20) Associated Companies

The figure reported for at-equity shares in associated companies increased by € 9.9 million compared

with the previous financial year. This was accounted for primarily by the positive results for the year

posted by the associated companies.

The Group’s shares in its material associated companies are as follows:

(21) Deferred Tax Assets

If it is likely that tax benefits will be realized, they must be capitalized. Clearing is possible only if the

deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same tax authority. Deferred tax claims amounting to 

€ 145.4 million (2006: € 159.3 million) were set off in the financial year 2007.
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in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Total gross investment 3,137 3,679

Unrealized finance income 281 331

Book value 2,856 3,348

in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 676,981 509,174

Unfinished products 432,034 304,437

Unfinished goods or services 20,276 11,895

Finished products and goods 906,723 784,745

Payments on account 48,415 42,848

Inventories 2,084,429 1,653,099

(22) Other Receivables and Other Assets

The long-term receivables consist mainly of receivables from finance leases, which were as follows:

This position also includes the transactions from the finance leases for telecommunications equipment

at two subsidiaries in the Services Division. All of the transactions have residual terms of less than five

years.

Current Assets

(23) Inventories

Individual valuation deductions were made in respect of all inventories where it is likely that the pro-

ceeds realized through their sale or use will be lower than their book values. The anticipated realizable

sale proceeds less costs incurred up to the time of sale are reported as the net selling value. 

If the reasons for writing down the inventories no longer apply, the write-down is reversed. In the

reporting period this led to a write-up of € 3.6 million (2006: € 2.6 million).

In accordance with IAS 2, inventories are valued individually or the average method is applied.

The book value of the inventories reported at the fair value less selling expenses amounted to € 261.9

million in the reporting year (2006: € 193.9 million). 

Write-down of inventories amounting to € 15.2 million (2006: € 23.3 million) were posted to

expenses.

The inventories disclosed were subject to restrictions on ownership or disposal amounting to € 0.2 mil-

lion (2006: € 14.3 million).



in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Receivables from third parties 1,480,061 1,061,062

Receivables from affiliated companies 21,146 14,359

Receivables from companies in which the company 
has a participating interest 19,837 32,839

Trade receivables 1,521,044 1,108,260

in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Production costs including result from 
construction contracts 657,244 –

Payments received on account –499,936 –

Receivables from construction contracts 157,308 –

(24) Trade Receivables

Impairments on trade receivables amounting to € 15.1 million (2006: € 5.7 million) have been carried

out for all discernible individual risks, the credit risk assessed on the basis of empirical values and 

specific country risks.

Restrictions on the ownership or disposal of trade receivables amount to € 109.6 million (2006: 

134.5 million). These are accounted for exclusively by the forfaiting of receivables and an asset-backed

securitization program. For further details, please refer to Note 39, “Other Liabilities”.

The trade receivables include the following receivables from construction contracts recognized using

the percentage-of-completion method.

Receivables from construction contracts include customized production contracts with an asset-side 

balance whose production costs, taking account of profit shares and loss-free valuation, exceed the

payments received on account.
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Some things are far more than just the sum of

their parts, and the Rio-Antirrio Bridge is one of these. It is far more than just a

link between two towns, and no one is more aware of that than Spyros Spyridon,

General Secretary for the region of western Greece, which was formerly divided

into two parts. “The bridge links the Peloponnes with central and northern

Greece,” explains the 54-year-old. What is more, the next step has European

dimensions: the plan is to build a motorway stretching from the north of Greece

to the Albanian border, and the Rio-Antirrio Bridge will be the most important link

in this north-south axis. “The real significance of the bridge will then become

apparent,” as Spyridon comments.

“Two economic areas that were previously almost completely separate 
are now beginning to coalesce.”

Spyros Spyridon, General Secretary
for the region of western Greece   



in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Other receivables from affiliated companies 68,730 15,262

of which loans [20,876] [5,446]

of which other receivables [8,574] [9,816]

Other receivables from participating interests 20,422 10,010

of which loans [2,008] [2,907]

of which other receivables [18,414] [7,103]

Loans against borrower’s note/bond 75,000 50,000

Tax refund claims (VAT) 39,353 20,093

Derivatives 54,522 15,096

Subsidies for age-related part-time employment 8,267 8,832

Assets available for sale 5,726 4,816

Insurance claims 5,777 3,984

Advances on company pensions 9,716 3,425

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges 5,673 2,896

Finance lease agreements 1,854 2,410

Other assets 64,316 39,453

Other receivables and other assets 359,356 176,277

in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Total gross investment 2,136 2,755

Unrealized finance income 282 345

Book value 1,854 2,410

(25) Other Receivables and Other Assets

The other receivables and other assets also include the sum of € 8.3 million (2006: € 8.8 million) that

did not become legally effective until after the reporting date.

There were restrictions on the ownership of disposal of other receivables amounting to € 5.0 million in

the reporting year (2006: none).

The current receivables from finance leases consist of the following:

The rental earnings are reported under other operating income.
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in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Cash at banks 2,133,468 2,184,962

Current investments – 147,089

Checks, cash in hand 5,355 12,938

Cash and cash equivalents 2,138,823 2,344,989

(26) Income Tax Assets

The income tax assets of € 114.2 million that existed as of December 31, 2007 (2006: € 23.9 million)

relate essentially to income tax claims by a domestic Group company. These are offset by non-current

income tax liabilities of € 214.2 million (2006: € 170.7 million) and current income tax liabilities of 

€ 19.7 million (2006: € 49.1 million).

These assets are set off against tax liabilities if there is an enforceable right to set off the reported

amounts against each other and the intention is to offset them in net terms. The prerequisites for this

are that the tax refund claim (asset) and the tax liability both relate to the same tax authority and that

the tax authority allows their offsetting.

(27) Securities, Cash and Cash Equivalents

Shares as short-term investments which are assigned to the category “financial assets held for trading”

are reported under securities.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following:

(28) Non-current Assets held for Sale

The non-current asset held for sale amounting to € 12.6 million in the previous year resulted entirely

from the reclassification of the shareholding in the French company Ets. Robert et Cie S.A.S., which 

in 2005 had still been consolidated proportionately. The shareholding in Ets. Robert et Cie S.A.S.

was reported as held for sale following a management resolution in November 2006. The sale was 

concluded at the end of January 2007. The sale resulted in a profit of € 1.4 million. No assets were

reported in this balance sheet item as of December 31, 2007.



(29) Subscribed Capital

In the financial year 2007, subscribed capital (capital stock) remained unchanged at € 161,615,273.31.

The 63,218,400 no par value shares have a notional par value of € 2.56 each.

In accordance with the resolution passed by the General Meeting of Shareholders on May 26, 2004,

the capital stock was increased by up to € 15,952,306.69 through the issuing of up to 6,240,000 new

no par value bearer shares (Contingent Capital 2004). The purpose of this contingent increase in cap-

ital is to facilitate the granting of option and conversion rights, in accordance with the option and con-

vertible bond terms, to the holders of the options and/or convertible bonds issued on the basis of the

authorization granted by the General Meeting of Shareholders on May 26, 2004. This authorization

enables the Executive Board, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to issue interest-bearing

bearer warrant-linked bonds and/or convertible bonds on one or more occasions on or before May 25,

2009, up to a total nominal value of € 90,000,000 with a maximum term of ten years and to grant

the holders of the equally privileged bonds and option or conversion rights to a maximum of

6,240,000 new Salzgitter AG shares (corresponds to 10% of the capital stock prior to the capital

increase). No use has yet been made of this authorization.

In addition, the Executive Board, in accordance with the resolution passed by the General Meeting of

Shareholders on May 26, 2004, was authorized to increase the capital stock with the approval of the

Supervisory Board by up to a nominal amount of € 55,833,073.42 (= 35% of the capital stock) on or

before May 25, 2009, by issuing up to 21,840,000 new no par value bearer shares against payment in

cash or kind (Authorized Capital 2004). This authorization has also not yet been used.

(30) Capital Reserve

Within the capital reserve (€ 295.3 million), the sum of € 115.2 million is accounted for by a premium

lodged on the occasion of a capital increase on October 1, 1970. Other amounts totaling € 111.2 mil-

lion relate to reserves predating the merger of Ilseder Hütte with Salzgitter Hüttenwerke AG and

lodged with the former Preussag Stahl AG, as well as a sundry contribution by the then principal

shareholder dating from 1971/72.

As part of the divestiture agreement, certain assets were sold to Salzgitter AG by Preussag AG for 

€ 0.51 each. These assets were reported at the time of acquisition at their fair values (€ 49.1 million)

and the differences posted to the capital reserve.

In the previous years, the exercise of option rights from the stock option program led to an increase of

€ 7.8 million in the capital reserve.
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in T€ 31/12/2007

Actuarial losses of consolidated companies 219,050

Actuarial losses of associated companies 1,487

Actuarial losses 220,537

(31) Retained Earnings

Retained earnings include allocations deriving from the results in the financial year or from previous

years and differences resulting from the currency translation – without effect on income – of the

accounts of foreign subsidiaries against which, in particular, the capitalized goodwill of subsidiaries

acquired up to September 30, 1995, has been offset. The retained earnings also include further com-

ponents that were posted directly to equity in accordance with the IASB regulations. Salzgitter AG’s

Articles of Incorporation do not contain specific regulations on the formation of reserves.

The retained earnings include differences from currency translation amounting to € –25.9 million

(2006: € –16.0 million). These were offset by the change in value reserves from the financial assets/

financial instruments amounting to € 39.7 million (2006: 8.4 million).

According to the new standards set out under IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”, all pension commitments

are reported in the balance sheet and the actuarial gains and losses are recorded directly under equity.

As of the reporting date, actuarial losses of € 220.5 million, after deduction of deferred taxes, were

recorded directly under equity (including the actuarial losses posted by associated companies that

were not reported in the pension provisions). 

Transition of the actuarial losses:

Salzgitter AG holds 6,321,823 (2006: 6,321,277) of its own no par value shares with a notional total

value of € 16,161,740.50, equating to 9.99997% of the subscribed capital (2006: € 16,160,088.05 =

9.9991%).

In the reporting year, 710,722 shares with a notional total value of € 1,816,932.36 (= 1.1% of the

subscribed capital) were acquired in the months of March (79,314 shares; average price € 101.75 per

share), April (356,664 shares; average price € 117.32 per share), May (79,650 shares; average price 

€ 124.30 per share) and June (195,094 shares; average price € 132.29 per share) at an acquisition

cost of € 85,704,724.64 (average price € 120.58 per share) for further acquisitions.

Of the 6,321,823 shares acquired pursuant to Section 71 para. 1 no. 8 of the German Stock Corpora-

tion Act (AktG), 323,080 were acquired under the authorization granted by the General Meeting 

of Shareholders on March 16, 1999, 128 as authorized by the General Meeting of Shareholders on

May 28, 2003, 5,285,613 as authorized by the General Meeting of Shareholders on May 26, 2004,

2,280 as authorized by the General Meeting of Shareholders on May 26, 2005, and 710,722 as

authorized by the General Meeting of Shareholders on June 8, 2006.



Of the 323,336 treasury shares (authorization of March 16, 1999) held at the beginning of the finan-

cial year, the company appropriated 256 shares (nominal total par value € 654.45; average price 

€ 69.60), of the 462,924 treasury shares (authorization of June 19, 2002) 462,924 shares (nominal

total par value € 1,183,446.69; average price € 95.11), of the 153,400 treasury shares (authorization

of May 28, 2003) 153,272 shares (nominal total par value € 391,833,74, average price € 95.41) and

of the 5,379,337 treasury shares (authorization of May 26, 2004) 93,724 shares (nominal total par

value € 239,601.66; average price € 95.44), to third parties in connection with acquisitions, as a pay-

ment equivalent for third-party services utilized (124 shares; average price € 103.36) and as bonus

shares or gratuities for employees (175 shares).

The treasury shares were deducted directly from equity in the amount of € 227.8 million (2006: 

€ 160.4 million) as of the reporting date.

(32) Unappropriated Retained Earnings

Under the German Commercial Code (HGB), dividend payments to shareholders in Salzgitter AG are

dependent on the year-end result reported under the German Commercial Code by Salzgitter AG. 

The unappropriated retained earnings are shown at the same level in both the consolidated financial

statements of the Salzgitter Group and the financial statements of Salzgitter AG. The transition of

Salzgitter AG’s unappropriated retained earnings from the consolidated net income for the year is

shown in the income statement. 

The proposal will be made to Salzgitter AG’s General Meeting of Shareholders that a dividend for the

financial year 2007 of € 2.00 per share plus a bonus dividend of € 1.00 per share (equal to € 189.7

million based on the nominal capital stock of some € 161.6 million) be paid from Salzgitter AG’s

unappropriated retained earnings and that the remaining amount be brought forward to new

account.

Based on the closing price of € 102.05 for the Salzgitter share in XETRA trading on December 28, 2007,

the dividend yield amounts to 2.9% (2006: 2.0%). 

If the company holds treasury shares on the day of the General Meeting of Shareholders, the proposed

appropriation of profits will be adjusted accordingly since treasury shares are not eligible for dividend.
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(33) Minority Interests

This item contains the minority interests in the subscribed capital, the general reserves and the profits

and losses of the Group companies reported. The minority interests in equity relate to:

■ Hansaport Hafenbetriebsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg,

■ Salzgitter Automotive Engineering Immobilien GmbH & Co. KG, Osnabrück,

■ Klöckner-Werke AG, Duisburg (including subsidiaries).

In the income statement, the result is reported proportionately under “Profit share of minority share-

holders”.

Non-current Liabilities

(34) Provisions for Pensions and Similar Obligations

In Germany there is a contribution-related basic employee pension scheme embodied in law under

which pension payments are made on the basis of income and contributions. Once the company has

paid the relevant contributions to the state social security insurance authority and to pension funds

constituted under private law, it has no obligation to pay further benefits. The ongoing contribution

payments are reported as expenses in the relevant period.

In addition to this, the Salzgitter Group operates a company pension scheme based on defined bene-

fit plans that are covered by provisions. The Group also has some immaterial fund-financed pension

commitments.

The pension provisions are accounted for mostly by pension commitments undertaken by German

companies and contain the entire present value of the defined benefit obligations. 

The provisions for similar obligations take account of bridging payments in the event of death.



in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

As of January 1 of financial year 257,102 246,185

Change in current financial year –38,052 10,917

As of December 31 of financial year 219,050 257,102

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Personnel expenses

current service costs 11,535 20,102

financing expenses (interest paid) 77,720 70,625

89,255 90,727

The actuarial gains (–) and losses (+) developed as follows:

The differences between the anticipated and actual development (experience adjustment) amounted

to € –12.8 million in the reporting year (2006: € –13.6 million). 

The transition to the actuarial gains and losses recorded in equity is shown in Note 31 “Retained 

Earnings”.

The expenses incurred for defined benefit plans in the result for the period were as follows:

Allocations (having been netted against reversals) to the pension provisions are reported as expenses

for defined benefit plans.
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in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Opening balance, January 1 1,714,837 1,724,589

Transfer –187 2,665

Transfer to other account – 217

Changes in the consolidated group 145,352 –

Used –119,579 –114,643

Reversal –3,664 –618

Adjustment in line with actuarial assumptions, 
no effect on income –38,052 10,917

Allocations 15,318 21,085

Interest added 77,720 70,625

Closing balance, December 31 1,791,745 1,714,837

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Cash value of fund-financed obligations 5,355 5,358

Fair value of plan assets –4,269 –4,266

1,086 1,092

Cash value of non-fund-financed obligations 1,790,659 1,713,745

Reported pension provisions 1,791,745 1,714,837

The amount of provisions in the balance sheet is calculated as follows:

The provisions for pensions have developed as follows:



FY 2006 in T€ Status 1/1 Currency Addition/Disposals Transfer
differences from changes in

consolidated group

Other taxes 8,454 – 42 – 14

Personnel 138,194 – 295 –5

of which anniversary provisions [35,957] [–] [51] [2]

of which for the social plan/age-
related part-time employment [65,766] [–] [301] [–] 

Operating risks 76,244 – – – 

Other risks 158,637 –188 –423 – 

of which markdowns/complaints [49,498] [–85] [–] [–] 

Total 381,529 –230 –128 9

FY 2007 in T€ Status 1/1 Currency Addition/Disposals Transfer
differences from changes in

consolidated group

Other taxes 7,540 –37 –1,482 500

Personnel 116,937 – 20,746 95

of which anniversary provisions [35,502] [–] [2,819] [–4]

of which for the social plan/
age-related part-time employment [54,495] [–] [13,236] [198]

Operating risks 104,053 – – –

Other risks 176,612 –170 38,184 64

of which markdowns/complaints [50,296] [–43] [26,565] [–]

Total 405,142 –207 57,448 659

(35) Other Provisions

The development of the other short-term and long-term provisions is shown in the following table:

The comparable figures for the previous year were as follows:

d.steinhof
Notiz
Personalbereich 

ersetzen durch:
Personnel
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Transfer to Used Reversal Allocations Interest added Status 31/12
other account

– –2,299 –21 634 800 7,540

–211 –44,411 –13,319 36,029 365 116,937

[–] [–1,981] [–110] [1,583] [–] [35,502]

[–217] [–24,665] [–8,025] [21,335] [–] [54,495]

–110 – 4,332 –5,419 38,520 –850 104,053

153 –32,990 –37,199 88,354 268 176,612

[–] [–15,623] [–17,227] [33,733] [–] [50,296]

–168 – 84,032 –55,958 163,537 583 405,142

Transfer to Used Reversal Allocations Interest added Status 31/12
other account

4,039 –1,972 –797 1,048 700 9,539

– –34,662 –7,108 48,944 –996 143,956

[–] [–2,742] [–126] [2,114] [–] [37,563]

[–] [–20,775] [–4,822] [20,036] [20] [62,388]

– –5,312 –2,893 40,525 –16,926 119,447

–3 –70,368 –45,723 146,616 – 245,212

[6,023] [–26,597] [–14,578] [56,341] [–] [98,007]

4,036 –112,314 –56,521 237,133 –17,222 518,154



FY 2007 in T€ Total Current Non- 
31/12 current

Other taxes 9,539 9,539 –

Personnel 143,956 52,989 90,967

of which anniversary provisions [37,563] [–] [37,563]

of which for the social plan/age-related part-time employment [62,388] [24,021] [38,367]

Operating risks 119,447 17,857 101,590

Other risks 245,212 245,212 –

of which markdowns/complaints [98,007] [98,007] [–]

Total 518,154 325,597 192,557

FY 2006 in T€ Total Current Non- 
31/12 current

Other taxes 7,540 7,540 –

Personnel 116,937 40,967 75,970

of which anniversary provisions [35,502] [–] [35,502]

of which for the social plan/age-related part-time employment [54,495] [27,704] [26,791]

Operating risks 104,053 12,618 91,435

Other risks 176,612 176,612 –

of which markdowns/complaints [50,296] [50,296] [–]

Total 405,142 237,737 167,405

The provisions reported in the personnel area were valued on the basis of an assumed interest rate of

5.25% per annum (2006: 4.25% per annum).

Allowances for employees leaving the company under the terms of age-related part-time employment

contracts are capitalized as an asset worth € 8.3 million (2006: € 8.8 million) and not offset against

provisions.

Provisions for typical operating risks are formed for, in particular, waste disposal and recultivation 

obligations.

The provisions for other risks primarily comprise provisions for discounts/complaints, litigation risks,

warranties, environmental risks and pending transaction risks.

Maturities of the other provisions:
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in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Liabilities to banks 45,845 56,922

Liabilities from finance lease agreements 33,780 32,701

Other borrowings 7,812 26

Financial liabilities 87,437 89,649

in T€ Residual Residual 31/12/2007
term term Total

1–5 years > 5 years

Minimum lease payments 22,510 21,596 44,106

Finance costs 6,025 4,301 10,326

Cash value of minimum lease payments 16,485 17,295 33,780

in T€ Residual Residual 31/12/2006
term term Total

1–5 years > 5 years

Minimum lease payments 16,771 27,000 43,771

Finance costs 5,819 5,251 11,070

Cash value of minimum lease payments 10,952 21,749 32,701

(36) Long-Term Financial Liabilities

The liabilities from finance leases reported under long-term financial liabilities are shown in the follow-

ing tables:

The long-term liabilities from lease transactions relate essentially to the leasing of plant equipment and

machinery.



in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Liabilities to banks 73,319 82,896

Liabilities  

to affiliated companies 17,668 1,067

to participating interests 3,090 1,100

Liabilities from finance lease agreements 4,455 3,250

Other financial liabilities 1 14,322

Current financial liabilities 98,533 102,635

in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Minimum lease payments 6,466 5,071

Finance costs 2,011 1,821

Cash value of minimum lease payments 4,455 3,250

in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Liabilities

to third parties 737,014 588,909

to participating interests 16,709 10,891

to affiliated companies 6,943 2,207

Trade payables 760,666 602,007

in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Production costs including result of 
construction contracts 4,613 –

Payments received on account 28,875 –

Payables from construction contracts 33,488 –

Current Liabilities

(37) Current Financial Liabilities

The liabilities from finance leases reported under current financial liabilities are shown in the following

table:

The current liabilities from lease transactions relate essentially to the leasing of plant equipment and

machinery and of factory and office equipment.

(38) Trade Payables

Trade payables include the following payables from construction contracts recognized using the 

percentage-of-completion method.
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in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006
Total Total

Other liabilities

to affiliated companies 24,405 12,028

to participating interests – 225

Other liabilities 551,415 330,576

of which payments received on account                        [165,875] [23,303]

of which to employees [128,320] [74,190]

of which from forfaiting and the asset-backed 
securitization program [94,579] [116,246]

of which tax [41,799] [50,139]

of which derivatives [28,514] [10,580]

of which social security contributions [21,210] [17,402]

of which bills payable [–] [2,663]

of which other liabilities [71,118] [36,053]

Other liabilities (current) 575,820 342,829

The payables from construction contracts include those production contracts with liability-side balances

for which the payments received on account exceed the production costs, including profit and loss

shares.

(39) Other Liabilities

Of the sum total of liabilities, an amount of € 142.7 million (2006: € 167.4 million) is secured by liens

and similar rights.

The other liabilities totaling € 94.6 million (2006: € 116.2 million) constitute liabilities resulting from

forfaiting and asset-backed securitization programs. Salzgitter Mannesmann Stahlhandel GmbH, Düs-

seldorf, and Salzgitter Mannesmann International GmbH, Düsseldorf, are carrying out revolving sales

of short-term domestic trade receivables on the basis of an asset-backed securitization agreement. The

sale of receivables is limited to an amount (purchase price) of € 80.0 million, and the Salzgitter Group

continues to report the full receivable amount on the balance sheet as of the reporting date 2007. The

purchase price is calculated from the nominal value of the receivables less a del credere markdown

relating to the default rate over the past twelve months, a verity markdown and a markdown for 

refinancing, insurance and administrative costs. Since Salzgitter Mannesmann Stahlhandel GmbH,

Düsseldorf, bears the commercial risks inherent in the receivables, they report the sold receivables in

the accounts accurately as own receivables and report the funds received for them as liabilities arising

from the sale of receivables. 



in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

Purchase commitments 233,275 419,481 152,729 54,458

Obligations from long-term 
rental agreements 28,116 160,901 18,443 145,173

Other obligations 448,477 820,629 404,553 450,602

Total 709,868 1,401,011 575,725 650,233

With the support of Salzgitter Mannesmann Handel GmbH, Düsseldorf, Salzgitter Mannesmann Inter-

national GmbH, Düsseldorf, made other non-Group external financing arrangements; in the process,

Salzgitter Mannesmann International GmbH, Düsseldorf, sold receivables worth €1.9 million (2006: €

8.1 million) as of December 31, 2007. In accordance with the framework contracts, Salzgitter Mannes-

mann International GmbH, Düsseldorf, carries out revolving sales of export receivables insured against

default for amounts up to a maximum of € 75.0 million. In addition, Salzgitter Mannesmann Interna-

tional GmbH, Düsseldorf, – for amounts up to a maximum of USD 25.5 million – has sold export

receivables worth the equivalent of € 3.9 million (2006: € 8.3 million) and secured by bank guaran-

tees. Furthermore, Salzgitter Mannesmann International (USA) Inc., Houston, has sold receivables

equivalent to € 8.6 million (2006: € 19.6 million) as of December 31, 2007, and reported the funds

received as liabilities.

(40) Contingencies

Contingencies are potential liabilities not shown on the balance sheet which are disclosed in the amount

of their value on the reporting date. Their total amount is € 122.1 million (2006: € 47.6 million).

The contingencies include guarantees of € 71.8 million (2006: € 42.1 million) and bill commitments

totaling € 0.9 million (2006: € 1.6 million).

Neither Salzgitter AG nor any of its Group companies is engaged in current or foreseeable legal or

arbitration proceedings that might have a significant effect on their commercial situation. Moreover,

adequate provisions have been made at the respective Group companies to cover potential financial

burdens arising from legal proceedings or arbitration.

(41) Other Financial Obligations

In the Steel Division, long-term purchasing commitments to safeguard the procurement of input

material for raw materials and sea freight, which due to the current market situation are relevant for

assessing the financial position, are also reported under other financial obligations.
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Future rental and lease obligations in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Up to 1 year 28,116 18,443

1 to 5 years 40,831 36,840

Over 5 years 120,070 108,334

Total 189,017 163,617

The other financial obligations arising from long-term rental and lease agreements consist of the 

following:



FY 2007 in T€ Book value

Loans and   Available-for-sale
receivables  financial assets

originated by
31/12/2007 the company

Assets

Financial assets 108,790 4,422 104,368

Other non-current receivables and assets 2,856 – –

Trade receivables 1,521,044 1,521,044 –

Other receivables and other assets  
(acc. to balance sheet T€ 359,356); 
of which financial instruments 298,888 242,512 –

Securities 20,383 – –

Cash and cash equivalents 2,138,823 – 2,138,823

Assets financial instruments 1,767,978 2,243,191

Assets fair value per category 1,767,993 2,243,191

Equity and liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities 87,437 – –

Current financial liabilities 98,533 – –

Trade payables 760,666 – –

Other payables 
(acc. to balance sheet T€ 575,820);                              
of which financial instruments 211,970 – –

Equity and liabilities financial instruments – –

Equity and liabilities fair value per category – –

(42) Financial Instruments

As of the reporting date December 31, 2007, the transition of the balance sheet items to the various

categories of financial instruments was as follows: 
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Valuation according Valuation according
to IAS 39 to IAS 17

Financial Derivatives with Financial liabilities
instruments documented measured at 

held for trading hedging amortized cost 
arrangements

– – – –

– – – 2,856

– – – –

42,929 11,593 – 1,854

20,383 – – –

– – – –

63,312 11,593 – 4,710

63,312 11,593 – 5,444

– – 53,657 33,780

– – 94,078 4,455

– – 760,666 –

25,747 2,766 183,376 81

25,747 2,766 1,091,777 38,316

25,747 2,766 1,090,796 37,656 



FY 2006 in T€ Book value

Loans and   Available-for-sale
receivables  financial assets

originated by
31/12/2006 the company

Assets

Financial assets 61,904 1,578 60,326

Other non-current receivables and assets 3,348 – – 

Trade receivables 1,108,260 1,108,260 – 

Other receivables and other assets
(acc. to balance sheet T€ 176,277);
of which financial instruments 149,863 132,357 – 

Securities 27,691 – – 

Cash and cash equivalents 2,344,989 – 2,344,989

Available-for-sale non-current assets 12,559 – –

Assets financial instruments 1,242,195 2,405,315

Assets fair value per category 1,242,250 2,405,315

Equity and liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities 89,649 – – 

Current financial liabilities 102,635 – – 

Trade payables 602,007 – – 

Other liabilities 
(acc. to balance sheet T€ 342,829);
of which financial instruments 251,161 – – 

Equity and liabilities financial instruments – –

Equity and liabilities fair value per category – –

As of the reporting date December 31, 2006, the transition of the balance sheet items to the various

categories of financial instruments was as follows: 

The market values of the long-term liabilities are determined by discounting the future payment flows

with the market interest rates established as of the reporting date. Trade receivables and cash and cash

equivalents mostly have short residual terms, and as a result their book values are very similar to their

fair values as of the cut-off date. The fair value of the other receivables corresponds to the cash value of

the cash flows associated with the assets. In the process, the interest rate parameters of the yield curve

are taken into account. The securities are listed and are valued on the basis of the stock market price

prevailing on the reporting date. The same procedure is used for listed shares under financial assets. 

Trade payables and other liabilities regularly have short residual terms, and as a result their reported

values are very similar to their fair values. The fair values of non-current and current financial liabilities

are determined as cash values of the payments associated with the liabilities on the basis of the yield
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Valuation according Valuation according Valuation according
to IAS 39 to IAS 17 to IFRS 5

Financial Derivatives with Financial liabilities
instruments documented measured at 

held for trading hedging amortized cost 
arrangements

– – – – – 

– – – 3,348 – 

– – – – – 

11,153 3,944 – 2,409 – 

27,691 – – – – 

– – – – – 

– – – – 12,559

38,844 3,944 – 5,757 12,559

38,844 3,944 – 6,660 12,559

– – 56,948 32,701 – 

– – 99,385 3,250 – 

– – 602,007 – – 

10,450 130 240,491 90 – 

10,450 130 998,831 36,041 –

10,450 130 998,298 37,520 – 



in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

Maximum Secured Maximum Secured
default risk default risk default risk default risk

Trade receivables 1,521,044 737,199 1,108,260 696,585

Other receivables 242,512 23,302 132,357 1,081

Financial assets 4,422 710 1,578 408

Total 1,767,978 761,211 1,242,195 698,074

31/12/2007 in T€ Overdue since

<30 31–60 61–90 91–180 >180 
days days days days days

Loans and receivables originated
by the company 162,455 37,436 8,203 10,169 14,275

31/12/2006 in T€ Overdue since

<30 31–60 61–90 91–180 >180 
days days days days days

Loans and receivables originated
by the company 117,855 36,165 6,954 8,792 1,384

curve and the Salzgitter AG credit spread. The book value of the derivative financial instruments 

corresponds to the market value.

In order to cover significant elements of the default risk and to afford access to a special information

service, credit insurance cover has been arranged for the individual Group companies. In the case of

the companies in the Steel Division, the credit insurance does not cover sales to dealers or companies

in the iron and steel industry, for which global securities are arranged via the steel del credere office. 

The default risk pertaining to financial instruments stems from the category “loans and receivables

originated by the company”. As of the reporting date, the default risk compared with the previous

year was as follows:

There are also default risks inherent in financial assets held for trading in the amount of the positive

market values of the derivatives, and in lease receivables the amount of reported values for which the

default risk is not secured.

The analysis of the ages of the financial assets which are overdue, but not impaired, amounting to 

€ 232.5 million (2006: € 171.2 million) as of the reporting date produced the following result:

The sum of € 86.8 million (2006: € 73.2 million) in overdue non-impaired financial assets in the

“loans and receivables originated by the company” category is secured by means of credit insurance.
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in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006

Assets/Liabilities held for trading 24,327 –152,879

Loans and receivables originated by the company –2,009 –4,098

Available-for-sale financial assets 91,357 69,895

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost –34,316 –41,801

Total 79,359 –128,883

Non-impaired amounts which have been due for more than 90 days generally concern regular cus-

tomers, the receipt of whose payments, as in previous years, is not in doubt.

In the reporting year, the Salzgitter Group recorded impairments of assets categorized as “loans and

receivables originated by the company” in the amount of € 21.3 million (2006: € 16.1 million) and

reversals of write-downs in the amount of € 12.9 million (2006: € 5.7 million). 

An impairment of financial assets in the category “loans and receivables originated by the 

company” is carried out as soon as there are any objective indications of impairment, for example 

substantial financial difficulties of the debtor or breach of contract. The impairments are recognized

with effect on income under other operating expenses. Reversals of impairment losses are recognized

under other operating income.

Trade receivables amounting to € 3.6 million (2006: € 3.4 million) had their credit terms renewed.

These receivables have not been written down.

It is assumed that those assets which are neither overdue nor impaired could be collected at any time.

The net results of the categories are as follows: 

The net result in the “assets/liabilities held for trading” category mainly comprises income from the

sale of current securities. The “available-for-sale financial assets“ and “financial liabilities measured at

amortized cost“ categories largely comprise interest income of € 115.6 million (2006: € 79.4 million)

and interest expenses of € 36.4 million (2006: € 45.3 million). In addition, the net results include

effects of currency translation and impairment.

In the reporting year, profits amounting to € 4.6 million (2006: profits € 36.4 million, losses € 2.1 mil-

lion) were generated from the sale of non-consolidated companies valued at acquisition cost. For the

assets in this category recorded as of the reporting date, valuation allowances amounting to € 5.6 million

(2006: € 0.2 million) with effect on income were posted in the reporting year.

For financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit and loss, the expenses incurred in

financial transactions amounted to € 13.0 million (2006: € 16.0 million); these were recognized with

effect on income immediately.



Positive market values in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006 

Forward exchange contracts – cash flow hedges 11,593 3,899

Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedges – 45

Total 11,593 3,944

Negative market values in T€ 31/12/2007 31/12/2006 

Forward exchange contracts – cash flow hedges 2,766 130

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006 

As of January 1 3,434 1,948

Additions 7,053 959

Disposals 1,660 –527

As of December 31 8,827 3,434

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006 

As of January 1 4,962 7,332

Addition 166 1,196

Write-up 26,897 –

Disposal 1,139 3,439

Valuation allowance – 127

As of December 31 30,886 4,962

The valuation of securities with no effect on income developed as follows:

The write-up of € 26.9 million in the financial year 2007 essentially relates to the shares in an Indian

manufacturing company in the tubes industry.  

In accordance with IAS 39, the Salzgitter Group applied hedge accounting exclusively to forward

exchange contracts in the financial year 2007. In the process, the currency risks were hedged using

cash flow hedges. The respective market values were as follows:

The underlying transactions that were secured using cash flow hedges will generally affect income

within 12 months of the reporting date. A small proportion will affect income within the next three

years.

The development of the cash flow hedge reserve, which was posted to equity with no effect on

income, was as follows:

The effectiveness of the hedging arrangements is examined as of every reporting date. This involves

comparing the cumulative change in the value of the underlying transaction with the cumulative

change in the value of the hedging transaction. In the reporting year, slight ineffectivities arose from

cash flow hedges.
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Term EUR interest rate (%) GBP interest rate (%) USD interest rate (%)

31/12/2007 31/12/2006 31/12/2007 31/12/2006 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

1 month 4.2940 3.6100 5.9538 6.3747 4.6000 5.2700

3 months 4.6900 3.7000 5.9938 5.9893 4.7025 5.3100

6 months 4.7090 3.8300 5.9400 6.2831 4.5963 5.3350

1 year 4.7540 4.0150 5.7438 6.1745 4.2238 5.3050

2 years 4.5330 4.1160 5.2097 5.4445 3.8180 5.1735

4 years 4.5440 4.1140 4.7075 5.4045 4.0450 5.0750

10 years 4.7240 4.1810 4.6025 5.0875 4.6590 5.1650

In the case of foreign currency receivables, rate hedging cover is provided by entering into forward

exchange contracts with various banks. The relevant claims are reported at the rate agreed in each

case. Hedging relationships were established for both firm obligations and expected future trans-

actions. 

The nominal volume of the derivative financial instruments comprises the unnetted total of all pur-

chase and sale amounts, valued at the respective settlement rates. Market values were, on principle,

determined on the basis of conditions that prevailed on the reporting date, using the values at which

the relevant derivative financial instruments were traded or listed, without considering contrary move-

ments in the value of the underlying transactions. The current value of the derivatives to be reported

derives from the valuation of the hedged foreign currency amount with the difference between the

rate applying when the forward contract was entered into and the forward rate on the reporting date;

this amount is discounted to the reporting date at the euro interest rate in accordance with the 

residual term.

The following key interest rates were used to determine the fair values of the currency derivatives as of

the end of the reporting year and the previous year:



31/12/2007 in T€ Up to 1 1 to 5  Over 5  
year years years 

Trade payables 760,666 – –

Financial liabilities 96,586 31,982 28,014

Lease liabilities 6,547 22,510 21,596

Other liabilities 195,150 – –

Liabilities from derivatives 26,858 – –

31/12/2006 in T€ Up to 1 1 to 5  Over 5  
year years years 

Trade payables 602,007 – –

Financial liabilities 103,844 43,098 21,394

Lease liabilities 5,161 16,771 27,000

Other liabilities 252,013 – –

Liabilities from derivatives 9,420 9,798 –

The liquidity structure of all the financial liabilities was as follows:

Derivatives paid gross (without currency options) and derivatives with negative market values for

which a net adjustment has been agreed have an underlying market volume of € 1,506.3 million

(2006: € 1,036.1 million).

Sensitivity Analysis

IFRS 7 stipulates that to ensure a systematic presentation of the market risks to which the company in

question is exposed as of the reporting date, a sensitivity analysis must be prepared.

The objective of this sensitivity analysis is to determine the impact of hypothetical changes in relevant

risk variables on the company’s result and equity. To determine the impact of these risk variables on the

financial instruments, the effects of hypothetical changes in the risk variables on the market values and

cash flows of the financial instruments in question must be determined as of the reporting date. 

The Salzgitter Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks. In terms of the sensitivity analysis under

IFRS 7, these are interest rate risks, exchange rate risks and other price risks. For the interest rate risks,

the sensitivity analysis assumes a change of 100 basis points in the market interest rate. In the case of

exchange rate risks, a fluctuation of 10% in the respective functional currencies of the Group compa-

nies against the foreign currencies is assumed. The other price risks arise for the Salzgitter Group from

changes in raw materials prices or stock market indices. In this area, the effects of a change in the

respective price listings are calculated at 10%. The sensitivities were determined by banks or by means

of internal calculations using acknowledged methods (e.g. Black-Scholes, Heath-Jarrow-Morton). The

portfolio of financial instruments as of the reporting date is representative of the financial year as 

a whole. 
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31/12/2007 in T€ Affecting Affecting Total Affecting Affecting Total
result equity result equity

Degree of sensitivity +10% +10% +10% –10% –10% –10%

USD –27,107 23,202 –3,905 46,930 –27,362 19,568

GBP 3,459 303 3,762 –4,402 –181 – 4,583

Other currencies 83 803 886 33 –943 –910

Currency sensitivities –23,565 24,308 743 42,561 –28,486 14,075

Degree of sensitivity +100 bp +100 bp +100 bp –100 bp –100 bp –100 bp

Interest rate sensitivities 7,150 – 7,150 –7,155 – –7,155

Degree of sensitivity +10% +10% +10% –10% –10% –10%

Other price sensitivities –6,129 – –6,129 6,258 – 6,258

31/12/2006 in T€ Affecting Affecting Total Affecting Affecting Total
result equity result equity

Degree of sensitivity +10% +10% +10% –10% –10% –10%

USD –20,835 –4,488 –25,323 35,703 2,362 38,065

GBP 1,854 237 2,091 –1,815 –233 –2,048

Other currencies 378 – 378 –452 – –452

Currency sensitivities –18,603 –4,251 –22,854 33,436 2,129 35,565

Degree of sensitivity +100 bp +100 bp +100 bp –100 bp –100 bp –100 bp

Interest rate sensitivities 9,325 – 9,325 –9,441 – –9,441

Degree of sensitivity +10% +10% +10% –10% –10% –10%

Other price sensitivities 2,286 – 2,286 –2,286 – –2,286



in T€ FY 2007

Purchase price paid in cash (up to first-time consolidation) 392,171

Cash available in the acquired companies  –23,256

Purchase price paid in cash (after first-time consolidation) 21,328

Cash outflow as a result of acqusitions 390,243

(43) Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

In accordance with IAS 7, the cash flow statement depicts the development in cash flows for the finan-

cial years 2007 and 2006, broken down into inflows and outflows of funds from current operating,

investment and financing activities. The cash flow statement is derived from the consolidated financial

statements of Salzgitter AG using the indirect method.

The cash and cash equivalents used comprise cash in hand, checks, near-money funds, securities and

cash at banks. The cash and cash equivalents include no cash equivalents (2006: € 147 million)

reported in the balance sheet under “cash and cash equivalents”.

In the cash flow from operating activities, earnings from fixed asset disposals have been eliminated.

Interest income amounted to € 82.9 million (2006: € 62.4 million). 

The investments reported under the cash flow for investment activities comprise the additions to

intangible assets, property, plant and equipment as well as financial investments. In addition to

numerous investments in rationalization and replacements aimed primarily at improving, renewing

and safeguarding production plants and data processing systems, various large-scale investments were

made, principally for the purpose of enhancing product quality and broadening the product spectrum. 

The payments made for investments in financial assets relate particularly to the acquisition of Klöckner-

Werke AG and Vallourec Précision Etirage S.A.S., Saint Florentin, France, and to the acquisition of

assets and debts of Rohrwerk Zeithain from Vallourec & Mannesmann Deutschland GmbH, Düssel-

dorf. The net outflow of cash and cash equivalents from these acquisitions in accordance with IFRS 3

(Note 44) for 2007 was as follows:

The cash inflow from the disposal of financial assets relates primarily to the sale of the shareholding 

in Ets. Robert et Cie S.A.S. The disposal of the shares in the company SMH Sparkasse Mannesmann

Hoffmeister Projektentwicklung GmbH & Co. KG, Mülheim an der Ruhr, and the sale of Grundstücks-

gemeinschaft Funkschneise Bremen GbR, Bremen, contributed additionally to the cash inflow in the

investment area.

Interest paid is attributed solely to financing activities. 
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in T€ Fair value Book value at 
acquired company

Other intangible assets 28,483 28,483

Brand names 27,356 –

Customer relationships 32,435 –

Technologies 7,093 –

Property, plant and equipment 156,105 122,322

Financial assets 32,982 57,505

Inventories 159,162 148,145

Receivables 379,671 378,195

Cash and cash equivalents 21,460 21,460

Other assets 2,571 2,571

Other provisions –56,575 –54,575

Pension provisions –143,669 –153,950

Liabilities –294,132 –294,132

Deferred tax – net 11,592 59,279

Net assets 364,534 315,303

Minority interest – 47,036

Net assets acquired 317,498

The payments for current loans against promissory notes/bonds result from the sale of an additional

loan against a promissory note.

Income received from shareholdings during the financial year amounted to € 2.8 million (2006: 

€ 16.2 million).

(44) Acquisitions

In March 2007, 82.2% of Klöckner-Werke AG, Duisburg, and 70.7% of RSE Grundbesitz und Beteili-

gungs-AG, Frankfurt am Main, were acquired. A total of 15 companies were included in the accounts

for the first time by way of full consolidation as from July 2007. 

The Technology Division contributed € 512.6 million to the Group’s sales and € 4.0 million, after the

purchase price allocation, to its profits in the second half of 2007. With regard to the sales and annual

results figures posted by the acquired companies for the reporting period 2007, we refer to the figures

of Klöckner-Werke AG which were announced ad-hoc as of February 25, 2008, (”Provisional figures for

the financial year 2007”) in accordance with Section 15, German Securities Trading Act (WpHG).

These figures contain no effects resulting from value adjustments for the additions to current values

ascertained and reported in the course of the purchase price allocation.   

The following assets and liabilities were acquired as a result of the acquisition:



in T€ Fair value Book value at 
acquired company

Other intangible assets 353 353

Brand names 564 –

Customer relationships 875 –

Technologies 2,527 –

Property, plant and equipment 68,742 55,654

Financial assets 1,096 1,096

Inventories 61,477 54,127

Receivables 78,833 78,833

Cash and cash equivalents 1,796 1,796

Other assets 1,408 1,408

Other provisions –3,338 –3,338

Pension provisions –7,370 –7,370

Liabilities –65,368 –64,176

Deferred tax – net –17,961 –9,769

Net assets 123,634 108,614

Minority interest –

Net assets acquired 123,634

In the Tubes Division, 100% of Vallourec Précision Etirage S.A.S., Saint Florentin, France, was acquired,

as well as assets and liabilities of Rohrwerk Zeithain from Vallourec & Mannesmann Deutschland

GmbH, Düsseldorf. Since their acquisition, these assets and liabilities have been serving the operating

activities of Mannesmannrohr Sachsen GmbH, Zeithain. 

The companies contributed € 152.6 million to the Group’s sales and € 5.7 million – after purchase

price allocation – to its profits in the second half of 2007.

The following assets and liabilities were acquired as a result of the acquisition:
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(45) Notes on Segment Reporting

In its segment reporting, the Salzgitter Group is prematurely applying IFRS 8 (“Operating Segments”),

which was adopted by the European Union in November 2007 and will replace the currently valid 

provisions of IAS 14 as from January 1, 2009. 

The segmentation of the Salzgitter Group into five (2006: four) divisions accords with the Group’s

internal controlling and reporting functions. 

In the segment report, the business activities of the Salzgitter Group are assigned to the Steel, Trading,

Tubes and Services Divisions and, since the acquisition of the mechanical engineering group Klöckner

in July 2007, the new Technology Division. Salzgitter AG as the management holding company and

the intermediate holding company Salzgitter Mannesmann GmbH are not assigned to any division. 

The operating steel companies Salzgitter Flachstahl GmbH, Peiner Träger GmbH and Ilsenburger

Grobblech GmbH belong to the Steel Division via the intermediate holding company Salzgitter Stahl

GmbH. The Division’s main products are steel strip, sections and plate. HSP Hoesch Spundwand und

Profil GmbH, Salzgitter Bauelemente GmbH, Salzgitter Europlatinen GmbH and ThyssenKrupp GfT

Bautechnik GmbH, which is valued at equity, continue to be assigned to this division.

The Tubes Division includes the fully consolidated units Mannesmannröhren-Werke GmbH, Mannes-

mannröhren Mülheim GmbH, Mannesmann Präzisrohr GmbH, Mannesmann Robur B.V., Mannesmann

Fuchs Rohr GmbH, Salzgitter Großrohre GmbH, the DMV Group and, for the first time, the newly

acquired or first-time consolidated Salzgitter companies Salzgitter Mannesmann Precision GmbH (for-

merly Mannesmannring Sachsen GmbH), Mannesmannrohr Sachsen GmbH and Vallourec Précision

Etirage S.A.S. This division concentrates mainly on the production of pipeline tubes, precision steel

tubes and stainless steel steel tubes.

This division also includes the joint venture Europipe GmbH (including the subsidiaries Europipe

France S.A., eb Pipe Coatings Corporation, Berg Steel Pipe Corporation and MÜLHEIM PIPECOATINGS

GmbH), which is included proportionately in the consolidated financial statements. Hüttenwerke

Krupp Mannesmann GmbH is assigned to this business segment as an associated company using the

equity method. 

The Trading Division consists of four domestic and five foreign companies in the Salzgitter Mannesmann

Handel Group, Universal Eisen und Stahl GmbH, Hövelmann & Lueg GmbH and Flachform Stahl GmbH. 

This segment also includes the non-consolidated companies in the Salzgitter Mannesmann Handel

Group and the Universal Handel Group.
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Jannis Angelopoulos owns a restaurant in
Nafpaktos, and the specialty of the house is a postcard-perfect view. To the left the mountains of
the Peloponnes, to the right the picturesque coastal town of Nafpaktos, and in-between the Gulf of
Corinth, with the enormous Rio-Antirrio Bridge stretching across it. Although Angelopoulos has only
owned his restaurant for three years, his connections with the bridge dates back further, for he used
to run the workers’ canteen when the bridge was a construction site. When the structure was com-
pleted in 2004, he had to reorient himself, and he has definitely been successful, as you can see.

“What a view!”

Jannis Angelopoulos, restaurant owner from Nafpaktos



The Services Division includes DEUMU Deutsche Erz- und Metall-Union GmbH, SZST Salzgitter Service

und Technik GmbH, SIT Salzgitter Information und Telekommunikation GmbH, the TELCAT Group,

GESIS Gesellschaft für Informationssysteme mbH, Hansaport Hafenbetriebsgesellschaft mbH, 

“Glückauf” Wohnungsgesellschaft mbH, Verkehrsbetriebe Peine-Salzgitter GmbH, Salzgitter Mannes-

mann Forschung GmbH, Salzgitter Automotive Engineering Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Salzgitter

Automotive Engineering GmbH & Co. KG and Salzgitter Automotive Engineering Immobilien GmbH

& Co. KG, as well as the net income from shareholdings assigned to this segment. This segment also

includes the non-consolidated company Salzgitter Hydroforming GmbH & Co. KG. 

The companies in this Division are engaged primarily in providing services to the Group. Their applied

expertise and the existing infrastructure, however, will increasingly be offered to companies outside of

the Group as well. The services provided include data processing, telecommunications services, scrap

metal dealing, the handling and storage of bulk cargo, transportation and other services. The com-

panies Salzgitter Hydroforming GmbH & Co. KG and Salzgitter Automotive Engineering Beteiligungs-

gesellschaft (including subsidiaries) mainly provide services and products for the automotive industry.

The Technology Division contains a total of 15 fully consolidated companies belonging to the Klöckner

Group. As of December 31, 2007, the Salzgitter Group holds a total of 86.1% of the shares in Klöck-

ner-Werke AG (KWAG), the holding company of the Klöckner Group. The Klöckner Group operates via

the KWAG subsidiary KHS AG and its domestic and foreign subsidiaries, primarily in the filling and

packaging technology segment. 

Inter-segment sales are basically conducted on standard market terms such as also apply to trans-

actions with third parties.

Depreciation and amortization relate in their entirety to the fixed assets of the respective segments.

Segmental operating assets and liabilities comprise the assets and debts that are required for opera-

tional purposes – excluding both interest-bearing claims and income tax receivables and liabilities.

Of the sales generated, € 4,903 million (2006: € 3,984 million) were earned in Germany and € 5,289

million (2006: € 4,463 million) in third countries. 

Of the investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, € 359 million (2006: 

€ 225 million) were accounted for by Germany and € 24 million (2006: € 11 million) by third coun-

tries. A further sum of € 1.5 million was invested in Germany by a consolidated unit not assigned to

any segment.

In the financial year 2007, as in the previous year, no single customer accounted for more than 10%

of the Salzgitter Group’s sales.
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in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006 

Total sales of the segments 13,347,019 11,101,265

Other sales 123,626 101,396

Elimination of the sales in own segment –399,780 –350,365

Elimination of the sales with other segments –2,686,643 –2,254,190

Elimination of the sales with Group companies
not assigned to a segment –191,963 –150,893

Sales 10,192,259 8,447,213

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006 

Segment operating assets 6,278,276 4,722,738

Other assets 1,979,718 2,178,893

Goodwill 15,344 –

Income tax assets 114,192 23,950

Deferred income tax assets 12,988 49,101

Deferred expenses 5,672 2,896

Balance sheet total 8,406,190 6,977,578

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006 

Segment operating liabilities 5,006,638 3,843,221

Other liabilities –1,180,930 –586,946

Tax liabilities 327,968 263,778

Group equity 4,245,867 3,456,701

Deferred income 6,647 824

Balance sheet total 8,406,190 6,977,578

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006 

Total results for the period of the segments 1,308,759 912,991

Other results for the period 5,152 941,767

Result of ordinary activities 1,313,911 1,854,758

The transition of total segmental assets and segmental liabilities to the Group’s balance sheet total,

and the transition of total segment sales and segment results to consolidated sales and the consoli-

dated result of ordinary activities respectively, are shown in the following overview:

The remaining sales, results for the period under review, assets and liabilities are accounted for by 

the companies Salzgitter AG and Salzgitter Mannesmann GmbH, which cannot be assigned to any

operating segment.



in T€ Sale of goods Purchase of goods
and services and services

FY 2007 FY 2006 FY 2007 FY 2006

ThyssenKrupp GfT Bautechnik GmbH, Essen 210,950 160,904 – –

Hüttenwerke Krupp Mannesmann GmbH, 
Duisburg 41,290 26,387 384,980 416,339

in T€ Trade receivables Trade payables

31/12/2007 31/12/2006 31/12/2007 31/12/2006

ThyssenKrupp GfT Bautechnik GmbH, Essen 13,697 17,503 – –

Hüttenwerke Krupp Mannesmann GmbH, 
Duisburg 5,566 2,398 16,496 10,860

(46) Related Party Disclosures

In addition to business relationships with companies that are consolidated fully and proportionately in

the consolidated financial statements, relationships also exist with associated companies and share-

holdings that must be designated as related companies in accordance with IAS 24.

On April 2, 2002, Hannoversche Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Hanover, disclosed that it held 25.5%

of the voting rights in SZAG as of April 2, 2002. The Federal State of Lower Saxony, represented by the

Finance Ministry of Lower Saxony, Hanover, also announced that it held 25.5% of the voting rights of

Salzgitter AG. According to Section 22 para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 of the Securities Trading Act (WpHG)

these voting rights are attributable to the Federal State of Lower Saxony, as the shares in Hannover-

sche Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH are fully owned by the Federal State of Lower Saxony. 

Delivery and service relationships between companies in the consolidated group and companies

related to the Salzgitter Group are depicted in the following table:

Outstanding items from deliveries and services arising from the purchase or sale of goods and services

between companies in the consolidated group and companies related to the Salzgitter Group are as

follows:

All business transactions with related companies are conducted on terms that also customarily apply

among third parties.

Deliveries and services rendered for related companies primarily concern deliveries of sheet piling to

ThyssenKrupp GfT Bautechnik GmbH.

The deliveries and services received essentially comprise deliveries of input material for the manu-

facture of large-diameter pipes. 
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in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006  

Salaries and other current payments 10,952 8,494

Payments after termination of the employment 
relationship 619 542

Total 11,571 9,036

in T€ FY 2007 FY 2006 

Audits 2,595 1,505

Other certification or assessment services 579 67

Tax consulting services 86 16

Other services 256 120

There are contingencies totaling € 0.7 million (2006: € 1.0 million) vis-à-vis non-consolidated affiliated

companies.

Remuneration paid to members of the management in key positions:

(47) Fees for the Auditor of the Consolidated Financial Statements that were Reported 

as Expenses in the Financial Year in Accordance with Section 314, Para. 9 of the German 

Commercial Code (HGB)

(48) Significant Events Occurring After the Reporting Date

Significant events occurring after the reporting date are explained in the Management Report. 



Salzgitter Mannesmann GmbH, Salzgitter

Salzgitter Stahl GmbH, Salzgitter

Salzgitter Flachstahl GmbH, Salzgitter

Peiner Träger GmbH, Peine

Ilsenburger Grobblech GmbH, Ilsenburg

“Glückauf“ Wohnungsgesellschaft mbH, Peine

Hövelmann & Lueg GmbH, Schwerte

Flachform Stahl GmbH, Schwerte

SZST Salzgitter Service und Technik GmbH, 
Salzgitter

Salzgitter Großrohre GmbH, Salzgitter

Hansaport Hafenbetriebsgesellschaft mbH, 
Hamburg

SIT Salzgitter Information und Telekommunikation 
GmbH, Salzgitter

GESIS Gesellschaft für Informationssysteme mbH, 
Salzgitter

TELCAT MULTICOM GmbH, Salzgitter

TELCAT KOMMUNIKATIONSTECHNIK GmbH, 
Salzgitter

DEUMU Deutsche Erz- und Metall-Union GmbH, 
Peine

HSP Hoesch Spundwand und Profil GmbH, 
Dortmund

Salzgitter Mannesmann Handel GmbH, Düsseldorf

Salzgitter Mannesmann International GmbH, 
Düsseldorf

Salzgitter Mannesmann Stahlhandel GmbH, 
Düsseldorf

Stahl-Center Baunatal GmbH, Baunatal

Mannesmann Fuchs Rohr GmbH, Siegen-Kaan

Mannesmann Präzisrohr GmbH, Hamm

Salzgitter Mannesmann Precision GmbH, Zeithain

Mannesmannrohr Sachsen GmbH, Zeithain

Universal Eisen und Stahl GmbH, Neuss

Salzgitter Europlatinen GmbH, Salzgitter

Salzgitter Mannesmann Forschung GmbH, Duisburg

Salzgitter Bauelemente GmbH, Salzgitter

Mannesmannröhren Mülheim GmbH, Mülheim

Mannesmann DMV Stainless GmbH, Mülheim

Mannesmann DMV Stainless Deutschland GmbH, 
Remscheid

Mannesmannröhren-Werke GmbH, Mülheim

Salzgitter Automotive Engineering Beteiligungs-
gesellschaft, Osnabrück

Salzgitter Automotive Engineering GmbH & Co. KG,
Osnabrück

Salzgitter Automotive Engineering Immobilien 
GmbH & Co. KG, Osnabrück

(49) Waiver of Disclosure and Preparation of a Management Report in Accordance with 

Section 264, Para. 3 or Section 264b, German Commercial Code (HGB)

The following fully consolidated domestic subsidiaries have fulfilled the conditions required under 

Section 264, para. 3 or Section 264b, German Commercial Code (HGB) and are therefore exempted

from disclosure of their financial statements and from the obligation to prepare a management report:
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Leese Fuhrmann Eging

Schneider GroschkeFischer

(50) Supervisory Board and Executive Board

For the discharge of their duties, the members of the Executive Board received the sum of € 7.4 mil-

lion (2006: € 4.9 million) in the financial year. Of this total, € 4.6 million (2006: € 2.5 million) was

accounted for by performance-related remuneration components. 

Provisions for pension obligations to members of the Executive Board amounted to € 10.6 million

(2006: € 6.9 million). Former members of the Executive Board and their surviving dependants

received a total of € 1.5 million for the financial year (2006: € 1.5 million). Pension provisions totaling

€ 21.5 million (2006: € 20.3 million) have been set aside to cover obligations to former Executive

Board members and their surviving dependants.

Supervisory Board members received a total of € 1.9 million for the financial year (2006: € 1.6 million).

The remuneration of the individual members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards of Salzgitter AG

is disclosed in Section I.2.3. “Remuneration of the Executive and Supervisory Boards” in the Group

Management Report and the Salzgitter AG Management Report.

(51) Assurance from the Legal Representatives

We give our assurance that, to the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the applicable

accounting principles, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets,

financial position and results of operations of the Group and that the course of business, including the

business result and the position of the Group, are portrayed in such a way in the Group Management

Report that a true and accurate picture is conveyed and that the significant opportunities and risks of

the Group’s future development are fairly described.

Salzgitter, March 5, 2008 

The Executive Board



VI. Auditor’s Report

This report was originally prepared in German language. In case of ambiguities the German version

shall prevail:

“Auditor’s Report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Salzgitter AG, Salzgitter, 

comprising the income statement, the balance sheet, statement of recognised income and expense,

cash flow statement and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with the group

management report, which is combined with the management report of the Salzgitter AG, Salzgitter,

for the business year from January 1 to December 31, 2007. The preparation of the consolidated finan-

cial statements and the combined group management report in accordance with the IFRSs, as

adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § (Article)

315a Abs. (paragraph) 1 HGB (“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code) are the responsibility

of the parent Company’s Board of Managing Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 

on the consolidated financial statements and the combined group management report based on 

our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and

German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut

der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors in Germany) (IDW). Those standards require that we

plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net

assets, financial position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accor-

dance with the applicable financial reporting framework and in the combined group management

report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic

and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into

account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal

control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements

and in the combined group management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the

framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of the companies

included in consolidation, the determination of the companies to be included in consolidation, the

accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by the Company’s Board

of Managing Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

statements and the combined group management report. We believe that our audit provides a rea-

sonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.
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In our opinion based on the findings of our audit the consolidated financial statements comply with

the IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant

to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of

operations of the Group in accordance with these provisions. The combined group management

report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view

of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.”

Hanover, March 5, 2008

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Aktiengesellschaft 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

signed signed

Michael Lukasch Dr. Mathias Schellhorn

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer

(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)



I. List of Company Abbreviations

SZAG Salzgitter AG (Holding)

SMG Salzgitter Mannesmann GmbH 
(Intermediate Holding)

Steel Division

HSP HSP Hoesch Spundwand und Profil GmbH

ILG Ilsenburger Grobblech GmbH

PTG Peiner Träger GmbH

SZBE Salzgitter Bauelemente GmbH

SZEP Salzgitter Europlatinen GmbH

SZFG Salzgitter Flachstahl GmbH

SZS Salzgitter Stahl GmbH

Trading Division

APS AP Steel U.K. Ltd. 

DSO Deltastaal B.V.

FFS Flachform Stahl GmbH

FSD Friesland Staal B.V. 

HLG Hövelmann & Lueg GmbH

RSA Ets. Robert et Cie S.A.S.

SCB Stahl-Center Baunatal GmbH

SHN Salzgitter Handel B.V.

SMCN Salzgitter Mannesmann Trade (Beijing) 
Co. Ltd.

SMCZ Salzgitter Mannesmann Stahlhandel s.r.o. 
(Czech Republic)

SMHD Salzgitter Mannesmann Handel GmbH

SMHK Salzgitter Mannesmann International 
(Hong Kong) Ltd.

SMHU Salzgitter Mannesmann Acélkereskedelmi 
Kft. (Hungary)

SMID Salzgitter Mannesmann International 
GmbH

SMIH Salzgitter Mannesmann International
(USA) Inc.

SMIM Salzgitter Mannesmann International
(Mexico) S.A. de C.V. 

SMIR Salzgitter Mannesmann International 
Tehran

SMIV Salzgitter Mannesmann International 
(Canada) Inc.

SMPL Salzgitter Mannesmann Stahlhandel 
sp.z.o.o. (Poland)

SMRO Salzgitter Mannesmann Distributie S.R.L.
(Romania)

SMSD Salzgitter Mannesmann Stahlhandel
GmbH

SMSG Salzgitter Mannesmann International
(Asia) Pte. Ltd.

UES Universal Eisen und Stahl GmbH

UAC Universal Acier S.a.r.l.

UOC Universal Ocel s.p.o.l. s.r.o.

USC Universal Steel America Chicago, Inc.

USH Universal Steel America Houston, Inc.

USN Universal Steel Holland B.V.

USP Universal Stal sp.z.o.o.
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Tubes Division

BMB Borusan Mannesmann Boru Yatirim 
Holding A.S.

BSPC Berg Steel Pipe Corp. 

DMD Mannesmann DMV Stainless Deutschland 
GmbH

DMF Mannesmann DMV Stainless France S.A.S.

DMH Mannesmann DMV Stainless USA, Inc.

DMI Mannesmann DMV Stainless Italia S.r.l.

EP Europipe GmbH

EPF Europipe France S.A.

HKM Hüttenwerke Krupp Mannesmann GmbH

MDS Mannesmann DMV Stainless GmbH

MFR Mannesmann Fuchs Rohr GmbH

MHP Mannesmann Präzisrohr GmbH

MRS Mannesmannrohr Sachsen GmbH

MRM Mannesmannröhren Mülheim GmbH

MRW Mannesmannröhren-Werke GmbH

MPM Mannesmann Precisión Mexico S.A. de C.V.

ROB Mannesmann Robur B.V.

SMP Salzgitter Mannesmann Precision GmbH

SZGR Salzgitter Großrohre GmbH

TSA Tubos Soldados Atlantico Ltda.

VLR Vallourec S.A.

VPE Vallourec Précision Etirage S.A.S.

Services Division

DMU DEUMU Deutsche Erz- und Metall-Union
GmbH

GES GESIS Gesellschaft für Informations-
systeme mbH

GWG “Glückauf “ Wohnungsgesellschaft mbH

HAN Hansaport Hafenbetriebsgesellschaft mbH

SIT SIT Salzgitter Information und 
Telekommunikation GmbH

SZAB Salzgitter Automotive Engineering 
Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH

SZAE Salzgitter Automotive Engineering 
GmbH & Co. KG

SZAI Salzgitter Automotive Engineering 
Immobilien GmbH & Co. KG

SZHF Salzgitter Hydroforming GmbH & Co. KG

SZMA Salzgitter Mannesmann Altersversorgung 
Service GmbH

SZMF Salzgitter Mannesmann Forschung GmbH

SZMT Salzgitter Magnesium-Technologie GmbH

SZST SZST Salzgitter Service und Technik GmbH

TCG TELCAT KOMMUNIKATIONSTECHNIK GmbH

TMG TELCAT MULTICOM GmbH

VPS Verkehrsbetriebe Peine-Salzgitter GmbH

Technology Division

IBV  IRKAS Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. 
Vermietung-KG

KDE Klöckner DESMA Elastomertechnik GmbH

KDS Klöckner DESMA Schuhmaschinen GmbH

KHP Klöckner Hänsel Processing GmbH

KHS KHS AG

KHSAU KHS Pacific Pty. Ltd. 

KHSBR KHS Industria de Maquinas Ltda.

KHSGL  KHS China GLM2 Co. Ltd. Inc.

KHSIN  KHS Machinery Pvt. Ltd. Inc.

KHSME  KHS Mexico S.A. de C.V.

KHSRU KHS RUS 000

KHSSA KHS Manufacturing (S.A.) (Pty.) Ltd.

KHSUS KHS USA, Inc.

KMM Klöckner Mercator Maschinenbau GmbH

KWAG Klöckner-Werke AG

RSE  RSE Grundbesitz und Beteiligungs-AG



II. Glossary

Business and Financial Terms

A

Asset-backed securitization (ABS)

Selling receivables with securitization on the capital market.

At equity

Method of capital consolidation with which an affiliated company’s proportionate equity is valued.

C

Capital Employed

The sum total of equity, provisions for tax (excluding deferred tax) and interest-bearing liabilities.

Equity also comprises minority interests.

Cash flow 

■ from operating activities

Outflow/inflow of liquid funds in as much as not influenced by investment, disinvestment or financ-

ing activities.

■ from investment activities

Outflow/inflow of liquid funds from investment/disinvestment activities.

■ from financing activities

Outflow/inflow of liquid funds from financing activities: issuance/redemption of bonds, borrowing/

repayment of loans, issuance/repurchase of shares etc.

Corporate Governance

The term used to describe responsible corporate management and control. In the interests of improv-

ing corporate management, the German Federal Minister of Justice set up the Government Commis-

sion on the German Code of Corporate Governance in 2001. The Commission is tasked with enhanc-

ing the transparency of the rules of corporate management and supervision applicable in Germany

and with improving the corporate charter of German stock corporations. The capital markets attach an

increasing importance to good corporate governance. 

Cost of materials

Expenses incurred by raw materials and supplies, merchandise, spare parts, tooling and outsourced

supplies and services such as energy, contract processing and internal transport costs.

Current assets

Assets not intended for use in the long-term operations of the business enterprise. Current assets

include, for example, inventories and trade receivables.
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D

Debt

Provisions, liabilities and deferred income.

Declaration of Compliance

Declaration by the Executive and Supervisory Boards pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock

Corporation Act (AktG) regarding implementation of the recommendations by the Government Com-

mission on the German Code of Corporate Governance.

Deferred tax

Tax charges and reliefs likely to arise at a future date as a result of temporary differences between 

the book values applied in the consolidated financial statements and the tax valuations of assets and

liabilities.

E

EBIT (Earnings before Interest and Tax)

Earnings before interest and tax payments (excluding the interest component in allocations to pension

provisions).

EBITDA (Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortization)

Earnings before interest and tax payments (excluding the interest component in allocations to pension

provisions) and depreciation and amortization (including of financial assets).

EBT (Earnings before Tax)

Earnings before deduction of tax.

Equity

Funds made available to a company by its owners as a cash payment and/or capital investment, as

well as retained earnings.

External sales

The proportion of total sales accounted for by transactions with companies outside group of consoli-

dated companies of Salzgitter AG. 



F

Forfaiting

Sale of export receivables without recourse to the previous owners of the receivables (supplier), 

generally a bank.

Free float

That part of a company’s capital stock that is freely traded on the stockmarket.

I

IAS/IFRS

International Accounting Standards/International Financial Reporting Standards: standards to ensure

international comparability in the preparation of accounts.

Internal sales

The portion of total sales accounted for by transactions between companies within the group of con-

solidated companies of Salzgitter AG.

J

Joint venture

A business venture undertaken in cooperation between, and under the joint control of, at least two

companies at arm’s length.

L

Lifo

Last in, first out: method of valuing inventories based on their assumed sequence of consumption.

M

Market capitalization

Current market capitalization of a listed company. Market capitalization is calculated by multiplying

the share price by the number of shares. Deutsche Börse AG calculates market capitalization for index

weighting purposes based on the result of share price and free float.
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N

Non-current assets

Assets which are intended for use in the long-term operations of a business enterprise.

A distinction is made between:

■ Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings, technical equipment and machinery etc.

■ Intangible fixed assets

Goodwill/negative goodwill, patents, licenses, development costs etc.

■ Financial assets

Shares in affiliated and associated companies, other shareholdings, long-term securities etc.

P

Pension provisions 

Provisions formed to cover retirement, invalidity and surviving dependants‘ pension and benefit com-

mitments. Pension obligations are calculated using the present value of the defined benefit obligations

method (IFRS) or the going-concern value method (HGB) and valued on the basis of actuarial assump-

tions and calculations.

Personnel expenses

Expenses incurred by wages and salaries as well as social security, pension and other benefits. These

expenses do not include the interest component in allocations to pension provisions, which is

reported as part of the financial result. 

R

ROCE

Return on capital employed. Ratio of EBIT to capital employed.

U

Unappropriated Retained Earnings

(also: profit shown on the balance sheet after appropriation to or transfer from reserves)

Profit after appropriation to, or transfer from, reserves as shown in the annual financial statements 

of Salzgitter AG, calculated in accordance with the German Commercial Code. Dividend paid to share-

holders is determined by this result.



Technical Terms

A

Annealing furnace

Metallurgical furnace for heat treatment and annealing of metals and alloys; heated either electrically

or by means of solid, liquid or gaseous fuels.

B

Beam blanks

Input material for the production of beams.

Blanks

Stampings punched out of (mainly) surface-coated sheet for the automobile industry.

Blast furnace

A shaft furnace lined with heat-resistant (refractory) bricks and used by integrated steelworks to smelt

pig iron from iron ore.

Bloom

An intermediate product manufactured from crude steel by the continuous casting process and used

as a pre-material for the production of sections.

C

Coating

The application of a coat of zinc, organic material, paint or foil, primarily to improve the resistance of

steel sheet to corrosion.

Coke

A reduction agent required in the blast furnace smelting pig iron out of iron ore. Coke is produced by

heating specific types of coal (coking coal) in a coke oven plant under exclusion of air.

Cold-rolled steel

Non-surface-coated sheet produced by cold rolling.

Cold rolling

Forming process at room temperature. Cold rolling is used for example to turn hot-rolled strip into

sheet steel.

Continuous casting

A semi-continuous process for the manufacture of slabs, blooms and tube rounds from molten steel.  

E

Electric steel

Steel produced by smelting scrap in an electric arc furnace.
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Elements for roofing and cladding

Components produced from profiled surface-coated steel sheet that are used in the construction

industry as wall and ceiling elements and for exterior cladding. 

F

Filler with ring tube vessel

The ring tube vessel receives the beverage from an external unit and distributes it evenly to all bottling

stations. The vessel is made of stainless steel tubing (diameter = approx. 200 mm) which is bent to

form a ring shape.

Flat rolled steel

Flat rolled steel products are manufactured by the hot- and cold-rolling of slabs, including other work

stages, as necessary. The term refers specifically to sheet steel with a thickness of less than 30 mm used

mainly for automobiles and home appliances.

H

Hollows

Seamless tubes used as a input material for the production of seamless precision tubes.

Hot-rolled (wide) strip

Hot-rolled and coiled steel strip used as feedstock for cold rolling or sold as an intermediate product

(e.g. as wide strip). 

Hot rolling

Forming process carried out at high temperatures. Different types of rolling mills are used to convert

semi-finished material into hot-rolled strip, plate, sections or seamless tubes. 

I

Induction heating/annealing 

The term induction heating/annealing denotes the process of passing steel pipes continuously

through several successive inductor coils to heat these to a temperature of 1,200 °C.

L

LD steel

Oxygen steel produced out of pig iron by the Linz-Donawitz process (top blowing process).

P

Pellets

Small spheres manufactured from fine-grain iron ore with the addition of water and binding agents,

hardened in an oven. Pellets are used in the blast furnace along with lump ore and sinter as a source of

iron.

Pickling

Hot strip oxidized (covered in scale) by the hot-rolling process is passed through a bath of hydro-

chloric or sulfuric acid. This can either be a continuous (continuous pickling) or discontinuous (push-

pull pickling) process.



Pilger rolling

Conventional step-forming process (cold pilger rolling) for the production of seamless tubes by reduc-

ing the diameter and wall thickness of the tube (hollow section).

Plate

Sheet steel of 30 mm or more in thickness. Plate is required mainly in the construction industry, for

mechanical engineering and equipment manufacturing, shipbuilding and large-diameter pipes.

Precision tubes

Seamless or welded steel tubes utilized predominantly in mechanical engineering and the automobile

industry.

Push bench

Hot-forming machine in which a mandrel rod forces a cylindrical hollow ingot that is heated to form-

ing temperature through several roll passes (consist of three non-driven, calibrated rolls symmetrically

arranged on the circumference) for multiple stretching.

R

Reduction agent

Sources of carbon such as coke, coal or fuel oil used in the blast furnace process to convert iron ore

(iron oxide) into pig iron.

Relining

Cladding the blast furnace with refractory material, a process repeated in intervals from ten to fifteen

years.

Rolled steel

The sum total of all end products to emerge from rolling mills.

S

Seam annealing unit

Unit for normalizing the longitudinal HF-welding seam of steel tubes on the basis of electromagnetic

induction.

Sections

Long products such as beams and sheet piles, used primarily in building construction and civil engi-

neering. 

Semi-finished goods/semis

A general term for input material made from crude steel for use in rolling mills (slabs, blooms, tube

rounds).
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Shot Peening

Steel or ceramic shot-blasting process for targeted improvement of the surface properties (corrosion

resistance, mechanical strength) of components for high load performance.

Shuttle coater

Technical facility for covering galvanized thin sheet with various coatings. 

Slab

An intermediate product produced from crude steel by the continuous casting process and used as an

input material for the production of flat rolled steel.

Surface-coated steel products

Products provided with a metallic or organic surface coating by special processes, for example by gal-

vanizing or paint-coating.

T

Tailored Blanks

Bonded blanks composed of sheet steel of the varying shapes, qualities and properties, which are

welded together by laser beam. Automobile manufacturers use tailored blanks to produce press parts

for vehicle construction.

Three-roll piercing mill 

Hot-forming unit, in which a cylindrical ingot that is heated to hot-forming temperature is forced

through a roll stand (consisting of three driven and calibrated rollers arranged symmetrically on the

circumference) by means of a centered mandrel to form a hollow and stretched block.

Transistor-type welding machine

Machine for longitudinal seam welding of steel tubes based on HF-welding voltage generated by

power transistors.

Tube rounds 

An intermediate product manufactured from crude steel by the continuous casting process and used

as an input material for the production of seamless tubes. 

Tubes

■ Welded tubes

Tubes made by welding plate or hot-rolled strip. A distinction is drawn between longitudinally

welded tubes (where the weld seam runs along the axis of the tube), and spiral-welded tubes (where

the weld seam spirals around the circumference of the tube).

■ Seamless tubes

Tubes made from tube rounds. After heating, a hollow body is first created by a variety of processes

(including pilgering), which is then rolled and, if necessary, drawn to its final dimensions.

Turn-key plants

Complete plants, facilities and systems ready for operation.



III. Financial Calendar of Salzgitter AG for 2008

March 6, 2008 Key data for the financial year 2007

March 27, 2008 Publication of consolidated financial statements for 2007
Annual results press conference

March 28, 2008 Analysts’ conference in Frankfurt/Main

March 31, 2008 Analysts’ conference in London

May 15, 2008 Interim report for the first quarter of the 2008 financial year

May 21, 2008 General Meeting of Shareholders in 2008

August 14, 2008 Interim report for the first half of the financial year 2008
Analysts’ conference in Frankfurt/Main

August 15, 2008 Analysts’ conference in London

November 14, 2008 Interim report for the first nine months of the financial year 2008
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